

# The Use of Chemical Reactivity Assays in Toxicity Prediction

**David Asturiol and Andrew Worth** 

EUR 24870 EN - 2011





The mission of the JRC-IHCP is to protect the interests and health of the consumer in the framework of EU legislation on chemicals, food, and consumer products by providing scientific and technical support including risk-benefit assessment and analysis of traceability.

European Commission Joint Research Centre Institute for Health and Consumer Protection

#### **Contact information**

Address: Via E. Fermi 2749, 21027 Ispra (VA), Italy E-mail: andrew.worth@ec.europa.eu Tel.: +39 0332 789566 Fax: +39 0332 786717

http://ihcp.jrc.ec.europa.eu/ http://www.jrc.ec.europa.eu/

#### Legal Notice

Neither the European Commission nor any person acting on behalf of the Commission is responsible for the use which might be made of this publication.

#### Europe Direct is a service to help you find answers to your questions about the European Union

Freephone number (\*): 00 800 6 7 8 9 10 11

(\*) Certain mobile telephone operators do not allow access to 00 800 numbers or these calls may be billed.

A great deal of additional information on the European Union is available on the Internet. It can be accessed through the Europa server http://europa.eu/

JRC65567

EUR 24870 EN ISBN 978-92-79-20641-2 ISSN **1831-9424** doi:10.2788/32962

Luxembourg: Publications Office of the European Union

© European Union, 2011

Reproduction is authorised provided the source is acknowledged

Printed in Italy

### ABSTRACT

The use of so-called "*in chemico*" methodology - abiotic assays that measure chemical reactivity - is gaining ground as relevant and reliable means of toxicity prediction. In this report we explain the basis of the *in chemico* approach to toxicity prediction and we review the studies that have developed the concept and its practical application since the 1930s, with special attention being paid to studies aimed at the development of Quantitative Structure-Activity Relationship (QSAR) models and read-across approaches. The studies covered in this review are limited to non-enzymatic experiments and to nucleophiles up to 50 amino acids. The main applications identified are related to the assessment of skin sensitisation, aquatic toxicity and hepatotoxicity. Various experimental measures of nucleophile depletion or adduct formation have been proposed as chemical reactivity descriptors, but no single protocol has emerged as the most generally useful. It is concluded that *in chemico* approaches provide a promising means of toxicity prediction within their applicability domains and should be further developed and investigated as alternative methods to animal testing, especially when used in the context of integrated testing strategies based on the use of multiple non-animal methods.

# LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS

ACD	Allergic Contact Dermatitis
AEI	Activation Energy Index
DMF	Dimethyl fumarate
DNA	Deoxyribonucleic acid
ECHA	European Chemicals Agency
EC3	Effect Concentration 3 (concentration of test chemical that causes a SI of 3)
$EC_{50}$	Half maximum effective concentration (concentration of test chemical which induces a
F	response half way between the base line and maximum after a certain time of exposure)
E <sub>HOMO</sub>	Energy of the HOMO orbital
ELUMO	Energy of the LUMO orbital
EU GPMT	European Union
GPM1 GSH	Guinea-Pig Maximization Test Glutathione
HHPA	Hexahydrophthalic anhydride
НОМО	Highest Occupied Molecular Orbital
HPLC	High-Performance Liquid Chromatography
IGC <sub>50</sub>	Inhibited Growth cells by 50% (concentration of chemical inhibits cell growth by 50%)
JRC	Joint Research Centre
LC/MS	Liquid Chromatography / Mass Spectrometry
$LD_{50}$	Median lethal dose (concentration of chemical necessary to kill half of the members of
	the tested population)
LLNA	Local Lymph Node Assay
LUMO	Lowest Unoccupied Molecular Orbital
MCI	5-Chloro-2-methylisothiazol-3-one
MEST	Mouse Ear Swelling Test
MHF	Methylhydrogen fumarate
MI	2-Methylisothiazol-3-one
NBT	4-nitrobenzenethiol
NBP	4-nitrobenzylpyridine
NMR	Nuclear Magnetic Resonance
OECD	Organisation for Economic Cooperation and Development
P DDD	Lipophilicity
PPD QMM	p-phenylendiamine Quantitative Mechanistic Modelling
QSAR	Quantitative Mechanistic Moderning Quantitative Structure-Activity Relationship
QSPR	Quantitative Structure-Property Relationship
RAI	Relative Alkylation Index
$RC_{50}$	Reactive Concentration 50% (concentration of test chemical that reacts with 50% of the
	model chemical)
REACH	Registration, Evaluation, Authorisation and Restriction of Chemicals
SAR	Structure-Activity Relationship
SI	Stimulation Index
S <sub>N</sub> Ar	Aromatic Nucleophilic Substitution reaction
$S_N 1$	Nucleophilic Substitution Type 1
$S_N 2$	Nucleophilic Substitution Type 2
SPR	Surface Plasmon Resonance
UV	Ultra-violet

# CONTENTS

1. Introduction	
2. Reactivity-based QSARs and read-across	4
3. Overview of <i>in chemico</i> applications	6
3.1. Skin sensitisation	6
3.2. Aquatic toxicity	
3.3. Hepatotoxicity	17
3.4. Respiratory toxicity	
3.5. Miscellaneous toxicological effects	
3.6. Integrated testing strategies	
4. Advantages and limitations of the in chemico approach	21
5. Summary and Conclusions	21
6. Acknowledgements and Disclaimer	22
7. References	
8. Appendix 1. List of <i>in chemico</i> studies reviewed	

# **1. Introduction**

A range of toxicological effects of chemicals can be the result of a molecular initiating event in which the xenobiotic molecule reacts covalently with a macromolecule. For example, covalent binding to DNA may lead to mutagenesis and genotoxicity, whereas binding to an immunoprotein may lead to (skin or respiratory) sensitisation. In such reactions, the molecule is typically acting as an electrophile that reacts with nucleophilic centres in one or more macromolecules (typically DNA or protein). Electrophilic centres in electrophiles typically include carbonyl groups, halogenated carbons and unsaturated bonds. Nucleophilic centres typically include sulphur, nitrogen and oxygen atoms. In addition, certain xenobiotics may be reactive by acting as nucleophiles or as reactive oxygen species.

The principle of relating organic reaction chemistry to toxicology has led to the development of a wide range of approaches that use experimental or calculated measures of reactivity as the basis for predicting chemical toxicity. So-called *"in chemico"* methodology refers to a variety of abiotic assays that measure chemical reactivity. Although the term *"in chemico"* has gained ground (Aptula & Roberts, 2006) in the last five years, chemical reactivity models have been reported since the 1930s (Landsteiner & Jacobs, 1936).

The use of *in chemico* methods for toxicity prediction is based on the assumption that chemical reactivity and toxicity are proportionally related, *i.e.* the most reactive chemical will be the most toxic. The absolute value of chemical reactivity is not intrinsically meaningful in toxicological terms, since the reactivity-toxicity relationship is not completely linear, with many factors other than chemical reactivity contributing to toxicity. Nevertheless, within a group of mechanistically related chemicals, a quantitative measure of chemical reactivity can be used to scale the relative toxic potencies of group members. In some studies, information on chemical reactivity has been used to develop mechanistically-based Quantitative Structure-Activity Relationship (QSAR) models that use reactivity descriptors to predict toxicity. In other studies, reactivity descriptors have been used as basis for grouping chemicals, with predictions of toxicity being obtained by read-across.

Chemical reactivity is generally determined by measuring the reaction rate or extent of reaction of a test chemical against a protein surrogate, which can be any type of nucleophile ranging from a small chemical, such as n-butylamine or propane thiol, through a protected amino acid, such as *N*-acetyl cysteine, to a synthetic peptide and even a protein such as human serum albumin (HSA).

The potential for using *in chemico* methodology in toxicology, including a set of recommendations for its further development, has been critically reviewed <del>by</del>-(Cronin et al., 2009). The aim of this report is to give a more detailed review of *in chemico* studies published in the literature, with an emphasis on studies aimed at toxicity prediction. The review is intended to be illustrative rather than exhaustive, and as such is limited to abiotic (non-enzymatic) methods using small nucleophiles up to the size of peptides of less than 50 amino acids, as well as QSARs built from chemical reactivity descriptors.

# 2. Reactivity-based QSARs and read-across

QSARs have traditionally been built for structurally similar compounds or compounds belonging to the same family, e.g. benzene derivatives, ketones, or halogenated compounds. Commonly used descriptors have included the traditional Hammett ( $\rho$ ) and Taft ( $\sigma^*$ ) parameters. The former is an indicator of the susceptibility of the reaction rate with respect to the polar properties of the substituents, whereas the latter accounts for field and inductive properties. The two parameters allow for chemical reactivity prediction (Hammett, 1937; Taft, 1956). This approach has led to models with rather small applicability domains, which prevented QSARs from being a broadly applicable alternative methodology for toxicity prediction. The use of reaction-mechanism based applicability domains seems a more appropriate strategy, especially for predicting endpoints that are strongly related to chemical reactivity such as skin sensitisation. Compared to the classical functional group based applicability domains, the reaction-mechanism based applicability domains can include different types of chemicals in the same domain, e.g. ketones and aldehydes. Reaction-mechanism based domains allow for more robust models because the fact that two molecules have the same functional group does not imply that they can perform the same reaction, which is in the end what defines the adduct that is formed and the toxic reaction. One of the advantages of this approach is that it allows for an easy classification of the compounds as it can be carried out systematically just searching for structural motifs. The concept of the QSAR applicability is explained elsewhere (Netzeva et al, 2005).

The reaction-mechanism based applicability domains were first used by Lipnick (Lipnick, 1991) to identify and rationalise outliers for a series of chemicals. Subsequently, Veith (Veith, 2004) proposed its use in order to make of QSAR a real alternative to experimental methods at the eyes of regulators, and Aptula and Roberts (Aptula & Roberts, 2006) brought the idea into practice using a classification purely based on organic reaction mechanisms and independent of the nature of the compounds. They defined 5 domains corresponding to Michael acceptors, SNAr electrophiles, SN2 electrophiles, Schiff base formers and acylating agents.

The assignment (Roberts et al., 2007a,b) of more than 90% of the chemicals of two skin sensitisation datasets (Ashby et al., 1995; Gerberick et al., 2005) of 106 and 211 compounds, respectively, showed that the classification of chemicals into the proposed reaction-mechanism based applicability domains was straightforward. A series of structural alerts were derived and coded (Enoch et al., 2008; Schultz, et al., 2007) into a simple computer-aided system. The system was tested with a dataset (Gerberick et al., 2005) that had previously been classified manually by experts (Roberts et al., 2007b) and consistent results were obtained although in some cases the compounds were classified into more than one reactivity domain. The authors proposed to rationalize these cases with the help of molecular orbital calculations, but in most of the cases it was concluded that the compounds were likely to react via different mechanisms. Thus, in order to properly classify the challenging cases it is necessary to carry out further experiments (Alvarez-Sanchez et al., 2004) so as to determine their main mode of action.

The concept of Relative Alkylation Index (RAI) was developed by Roberts and co-workers (Roberts et al., 1991; Roberts & Williams, 1982) to quantify the reactivity (alkylation potency) of chemicals. It is expressed as function of dose (D), chemical reactivity ( $K_{rel}$ ), and lipophilicity (P):

$$RAI = \log D + A\log K_{rel} + B\log P \tag{I}$$

where the constants *A* and *B* are determined experimentally and are only valid for the compounds within the same reaction mechanism, *i.e.* the constants are applicability domain dependent. The lipophilicity is modelled by the octanol/water partition coefficient and can be obtained either theoretically or experimentally.

The RAI was initially obtained as the relative rate of a given chemical towards n-butylamine (a nucleophile model for lysine) with respect to the reactivity of a reference chemical (Roberts & Williams, 1982). The usefulness of the RAI index has been demonstrated in numerous studies (Barratt et al., 1994; Basketter & Roberts, 1990; Franot et al., 1994a,b; Patlewicz et al., 2003; Roberts, 1985, 1987; Roberts & Basketter 1990, 1997, 2000; Roberts & Benezra 1993; Roberts et al., 1991; Roberts & Patlewicz 2002; Roberts & Williams 1982; Roberts et al., 2007c; Roberts et al., 1999). In particular, the RAI has been shown to be a successful predictor of skin sensitisation. A quantitative model to predict skin sensitisation potency (EC3 of LLNA experiments) on the basis of RAI measurements has the following general form (Roberts et al., 2006):

$$pEC3 = a\log k + b\log P + c \tag{II}$$

where logP corresponds to the octanol/water partition coefficient and k corresponds to the reaction rate, which can be also estimated using the Hammett and Taft constants (Roberts et al., 2007c) or other

methods such as the direct theoretical calculation of the reaction rate (Schwöbel et al., 2010; Verhaar et al., 1996).

Roberts et al. proposed (Roberts et al., 2006; Roberts et al., 2007b) the use of the term quantitative mechanistic modelling (QMM) to define this type of QSAR whose meaningful components are not chosen statistically but derived mechanistically. The convenience of using such descriptors for the prediction of skin sensitisation potential is explained by Roberts et al. (Roberts & Aptula, 2008). These QSARs have been well characterized according to the OECD validation principles (OECD, 2007), and thus may be suitable for regulatory use (Roberts et al., 2007a).

In addition to the use of reactivity descriptors in QSARs, they have been proposed for use in readacross. For example, Roberts and co-workers (Roberts et al., 2008) illustrate how quantitative kinetic measures of reactivity can be applied to perform mechanism-based read-across of skin sensitisation potential. They emphasise the need for a chemical reactivity database which in addition to kinetic measures of reactivity includes other important parameters such as hydrophobicity (logP). In another study, Schultz and co-workers (Schultz et al., 2009) showed that the read-across approach can be used to rank qualitatively the skin sensitisation potential of an untested carbonyl-containing Michael acceptor chemical by using subcategories. Fifty compounds previously evaluated in the LLNA were placed in 10 subcategories defined by their polarized alpha, beta-unsaturated substructure.

### 3. Overview of *in chemico* applications

Schultz and co-workers (Schultz et al. 2006a) developed a framework and exemplified in which way *in chemico* experiments can be used to predict aquatic toxicity, hepatocyte cytotoxicity, and skin sensitisation. The requirements for a wide use of *in chemico* approaches are: a clear identification of the relation between electro(nucleo)philic reactions and toxicity, and the availability of quantitative *in vivo* data to be used as a reference for the reactivity experiments. In this sense, the possibility of using chemical reactivity as an alternative methodology has been especially important since the appearance of the LLNA, which provides quantitative data that can be used with the nucleophile depletion or adducts formation rates of chemical reactivity to generate QSARs. The determination of the reaction rates must be carried out carefully (Alvarez-Sánchez et al., 2003; Meschkat et al., 2001a,b) because of the possible presence of side reactions such nucleophile oxidations that can bias the real value.

### 3.1. Skin sensitisation

The skin sensitisation process starts with haptenation, the covalent reaction that takes place between a small chemical and proteins and which results in the chemical being incorporated into the structure of the proteins. Some authors (Aptula et al, 2007b) have argued that the term "hapten" is not precise enough and that it should be avoided in favour of electrophile. Nevertheless, this initial reaction is considered the Molecular Initiating Event in skin sensitisation, and forms the basis of most QSAR models and expert systems, as reviewed elsewhere (Patlewicz et al., 2007; Patlewicz & Worth, 2008). The state-of-the art of non-animal methods for skin sensitisation has been reviewed elsewhere (Vandbriel & van Loveren, 2010; Adler et al, 2011).

Skin sensitisation potential can be measured by means of the murine Local Lymph Node Assay (LLNA; Kimber and Basketter 1992). The LLNA is less invasive for animals than the traditional Guinea-Pig Maximisation Test (GPMT; Magnusson & Kligman, 1970) and the Buehler occluded patch test (Buehler, 1965). The sensitisation produced by the chemical is expressed as the Stimulation Index (SI), a measure of the proliferation of cells in draining lymph nodes of exposed with respect to the response in control animals. It is generally accepted (Basketter et al., 1999) that a sensitiser is a chemical that produces an SI above 3, that is the proliferation of T-cells in exposed animals is 3 times that of the control animals. The LLNA can be used to quantify the potency of a sensitiser by determining the Effect Concentration 3 (EC3), which is the concentration of test chemical that causes a SI of 3. EC3 is a very convenient way of quantifying skin sensitization since it allows for a comparison

of the toxic potency of chemicals and makes of LLNA a reference assay (Basketter et al., 1992) for the development of alternative methods including QSARs.

The relationship between reactivity and skin sensitisation has been reviewed by Gerberick and collaborators (Gerberick et al, 2008). Probably the first systematic study was by Landsteiner and Jacobs in 1936 (Landsteiner & Jacobs, 1936) where they studied the skin sensitisation properties of a series of nitrobenzene derivatives on guinea pigs. They observed a significant correlation between the sensitisation properties of chemicals and reactivity with aniline. Different types of nucleophiles have been used for the experiments since then. For instance, Liberato and co-workers (Liberato et al., 1981) used (S)-N-acetylcysteine and 1-aminopentane as models of nucleophilic sites of serum albumin to study the reactivity patterns of the quinine derivates of urushiol (poison oak/ivy cathecols). Also, cadaverine and derivatives were used as models for lysine residues (Osamura et al., 1981; Sekine & Unno, 1988). In the last work, the authors went one step forward and studied the formation of adducts by thin layer chromatography and liquid chromatography.

The use of small chemicals as nucleophiles was progressively abandoned in favour of small synthetic peptides. This seems conceptually more appropriate since peptides are more similar to proteins, although they cannot mimic their exact 3D structure. Wass and Belin (Wass & Belin, 1990) used synthetic peptides to predict the sensitisation potential of inhaled chemicals. The authors used three peptides containing lysine and tyrosine. The former amino acid was chosen because it had been previously shown (Pepys, 1986; Tse & Pesce 1979) that isocyanates, ethylene oxide, and anhydrides reacted with the lysine residues of proteins. On the other hand, tyrosine was chosen because it absorbs UV light and could be easily detected in high-performance liquid chromatography (HPLC).

As mentioned above, not only the nucleophile plays a crucial role in *in chemico* approaches but also the reaction conditions. In the skin sensitisation endpoint this factor is especially important because the skin has a pH of 5.5, but the physiological pH is 7.4. The skin sensitisation process is mainly dependent on the ability of the chemical to cross the stratum and also to bind to the proteins once it has been internalized. Thus, the pH variation during internalisation is a challenge for the in chemico methods as it strongly affects the nucleophile's reactivity. Ahlfors et al. (Ahlfors et al., 2005) studied the ability of hexahydrophtalic anhydride (HHPA), a compound used in the manufacture of plastics, to form adducts with different amino acids at skin and physiological pH. They tried to explain the various allergic effects that it causes, i.e. rhinitis, conjunctivitis, urticaria, asthma type I (mainly caused by reactions to lysine), and allergic contact dermatitis type IV (mainly caused by reactions to cysteine) (Ahlfors et al., 2003). For this purpose, the authors used a number of amino acids and synthetic peptides to determine if HHPA was capable of performing multiple reactions. The results showed that only adducts with cysteine and proline were formed at skin pH (5.5). Surprisingly, most of the formed adducts took place with proline, although cysteine and lysine were also found to be reactive. More adducts were detected at physiological conditions (pH 7.4) since reactions with cysteine, histidine, lysine and tyrosine were detected.

Although the use of synthetic peptides has been generalized in the last decade Meschkat et al. (Meschkat et al., 2001a,b; Roberts et al., 2007c) showed that small chemicals could be a perfect complement for peptide reactivity, especially to determine reaction mechanisms in complicated cases. They used imidazole, butylamine, phenol (sodium phenoxide), phenolate, propanethiolate and N-Acetyl-Cys to study the different skin sensitisation potential of alkane and alkenesultones, and Alvarez-Sanchez and co-workers (Alvarez-Sánchez et al., 2003) for two types of isothiazolones. The rationalization of the results was not easy in the former case because the authors could not find strong evidences of the higher sensitisation of alkenesultones with respect to alkanesultones. They concluded that the different potency was caused by the combination of selective reactivity of alkenesultones to amino groups and the fast hydrolisation of alkanesultones. On the other hand, the models clearly explained the higher sensitisation potential of 5-Chloro-2-methylisothiazol-3-one (MCI) with respect to 2-Methylisothiazol-3-one (MI), since MCI showed higher reactivity to nucleophiles and faster reactions with thiol groups. Further evidences of this were obtained later (Alvarez-Sanchez et al., 2004) with the help of GSH and a synthetic peptide analogous to the N-terminal chain of globin, and

explained theoretically by Aptula and co-workers (Aptula et al., 2005) In addition, they provided a skin sensitisation potency prediction tool, named the Activation Energy Index (AEI). It was defined as the sum of the Highest Occupied Molecular Orbital (HOMO) and HOMO-1 energy differences between the reactants (thiazolones and nucleophiles). It was shown that the AEI could rank the reactivity of isothiazolones with the different nucleophiles correctly, and therefore could successfully qualitatively predict their skin sensitisation potential.

The use of peptide reactivity assays has been generalised since the work of Gerberick and co-workers (Gerberick, et al., 2004). They developed a peptide reactivity assay which used different peptides containing cysteine, lysine, histidine and glutathione (GSH). GSH is a cysteine containing tripeptide that is the most abundant peptide in cells and acts as antioxidant and cell protector thanks to its high reactivity to electrophiles. In addition, it is known that low levels of GSH are related to important diseases such as cancer, asthma, Alzheimer, and Parkinson. The reactivity assay developed by Gerberick and co-workers was based on the use of GSH depletion rates to classify the test chemicals into four categories, which consisted in: Weak, Moderate, Strong, and Extreme sensitisers. The depletion rates were compared to the EC3 values of LLNA assays, and despite a significant correlation between the depletion rates and EC3 was observed, the peptide binding assays did not show enough accuracy to clearly classify the chemicals in the four categories. This work, however, was later extended (Gerberick et al., 2007) to 82 chemicals and various assays with different peptide-test compounds ratios were performed. Different models were built using the different assays, and a significant improvement with respect to the first approach was achieved. The best results were obtained with a model with 5 components: GSH, Cys (1:10 and 1:50), and Lys (1:10 and 1:50). With this model, 94% of the compounds were correctly classified and only 5 were misclassified. A very good compromise between results accuracy and experimental complexity was obtained with a model which only included assays with two peptides, cysteine (1:10) and lysine (1:50). With such a model, 89% of the compounds were correctly classified, and only 9 were misclassified.

Although the limitations of these types of experiments are important because they cannot account for aspects such as skin penetration, water solubility, metabolism transformations, and immune recognition; they were found to be able to distinguish between weak and strong sensitisers, and therefore proved to be useful as a screening tool. The authors did not envisage this assay as a replacement for the LLNA but as a component of a multi-test, which would also take into account metabolism and solubility reducing the dependence on the *in vivo* experiments.

Natsch and co-workers (Natsch et al. 2007) applied a similar assay to a series of fragrance molecules and went one step further by using dose-response curves instead of fixed times, analyzing formed adducts by LC/MS, and using other peptides derived from proteins such as Cor1C-420, known to be reactive with the proposed chemicals. The use of CorlC-420 was found to be very convenient because of its high reactivity, high solubility, and no formation of precipitates. In general, the new method was highly reproducible and performed very well with strong and moderate sensitisers although some errors prompted with weak allergens. The errors were mainly detected for aldehydes, which the LC/MS showed to be due to peptide oxidation. Thus, the depletion curves of aldehydes used to determine the skin sensitisation potency were not caused by reactions with the test compounds but to auto-oxidation. In general, the assay was found not to be able to classify non  $\alpha$ , $\beta$ -unsaturated aldehydes, but the modifications included proved essential for the understanding of the peptide reactivity and helped to improve the toxicity estimation. This method was subsequently improved by the same authors (Natsch & Gfeller, 2008) and allowed to determine simultaneously the peptide depletion, peptide oxidation, adduct formation, and thiol reactivity. The result was a more demanding experiment but which provided a set of tools for a better prediction of skin sensitisation potential.

The evolution of these methods resulted in the high throughput kinetic profiling approach (Roberts & Natsch, 2009). This method measures the depletion rates of the heptapeptide Cor1C-420 (Gerberick et al., 2004) (Ac-RFAACAA) at different reaction times and with different initial concentrations, giving a matrix of depletion rates. The authors compared their results with previous ones which had been obtained with methods that calculated the reaction rates at a fixed time rather than performing a full

kinetic profiling. Surprisingly, the theoretically less accurate experiments showed good correlation with the full kinetic profiling. However, the latter methodology is more robust as it does not suffer from drowning out effects caused by low solubility of the test compounds, which may affect the determination of the reaction rates. The authors used the kinetic profiles of 27 substances and the pEC3 values of LLNA experiments to generate a quantitative mechanistic model for predicting the skin sensitisation properties of Michael acceptors. The model only included 10 compounds as 4 outliers were discarded (the rest of compounds were found not to belong to the Michael acceptor domain). In spite of the rather low number of compounds included in the model, it was the first to contain various activation groups such as aldehydes, ketones, esters, and pyridines. It was surprising that the inclusion of the logP term did not improve the model, denoting that the toxicity was mainly driven by chemical reactivity. The model read as:

$$pEC3 = 0.24(\pm 0.04)\log K + 2.11(\pm 0.24)$$
 (III)  
n=10, r<sup>2</sup>=0.836, s=0.11, and F=40.8

Aleksic and co-workers (Aleksic et al., 2009) also tried to improve the existing peptide binding assays by modifying them so as to obtain the maximum information possible. They proposed to analyze the reactivity of chemicals with seven peptides, six of them of generic sequence Ac-FAAXAA, where X corresponded to the amino acids cysteine, histidine, alanine, lysine, arginine, and tyrosine, and another one with an N-terminal nucleophile, namely FAAAAAA. The reaction conditions were optimized and the pH was set closer to the pKa value of the nucleophile so as to maximize the reactivity of the nucleophiles and widen their applicability domain. The authors chose 36 chemicals of various sensitising potencies and determined their chemical reactivity by measuring peptide depletion rates. The results showed that EC3 strongly correlated with the depletion rates of the Lys, Cys, and N-term containing peptides, but not with the peptides containing other amino acids. The authors observed that the Cys and N-term depletion rates correlated to Lys but not between them. This finding pointed out that the two peptides were probably describing different sensitisation processes. Analysing the data for the different peptides it was observed that only Lys depletion was able to predict sensitisation, because although Cys could differentiate classes of sensitisers, some non-sensitisers were found to react with it. Taking Cys and His depletion values together, a rule of thumb could be derived for predicting sensitisation: If a chemical was able to deplete His over 40% it was likely to be an extreme sensitiser and if it depleted Cys below 50%, it was likely to be a weak or non-sensitiser. If the chemical depleted Cys more than 50% and His less than 40% it fell on a blurry domain for which the prediction was not reliable. The large amount of generated data increased the accuracy of the method since it allowed for a double check of the depletion rates. For instance, in the cases for which the peptide depletion was not confirmed to be caused by reaction with the test chemical, MS analyses were carried out to determine the nature of the formed adducts and the reaction mechanism. Thank to this technique, it was possible to detect in many cases that the depletion was caused by peptide-peptide reaction, or that multiple adducts and different sequential reactions had taken place. It is worth to mention a case in which the reaction between His and benzyl bromide was found to stop before the consumption of all benzyl bromide. It was concluded that the reaction was competitive with hydrolysis and also that it was inhibited by the sudden pH drop triggered by the formation of hydrogen bromide upon reaction with the peptide. The authors also tried to characterize the sensitisation potency of chemicals taking into account the depletion values of the six reactive peptides by means of hierarchical clustering, a method (Han & Kamber, 2001) that defines groups of data according to their similarity. Three groups consisting of non-sensitisers, weak sensitisers, and strong sensitisers were defined. All groups contained misclassified compounds and although most of them could be rationalised with the help of the generated data, the grouping showed too high uncertainty so as to be considered a good alternative. All in all, the authors presented a rather simple and flexible method for predicting skin sensitisation potency, which generates a vast amount of data that increases the quality of the predictions and that allows for an easy rationalisation of outliers. The challenge is to interpret these data and use it efficiently to improve toxicity predictions.

Aptula and co-workers (Aptula et al., 2005b) used the GSH reactivity assays (thiol reactivity) proposed by Schultz and colleagues (Schultz et al., 2005) and the TETRATOX (Schultz, 1997) (population growth impairment of Tetrahymena pyriformis). The depletion of GSH was measured as EC50, concentration of test chemical which gives a 50% depletion of free thiol under standard conditions, and the TETRATOX results were obtained as IGC50, which corresponded to the concentration of test chemical that inhibited the growth of Tetrahymena pyriformis by 50% and was calculated as the difference between the TETRATOX pIGC50 and the pIGC50 obtained from the narcosis equation, which was only dependent on logP. The two assays were used to predict the skin sensitisation potency (Gerberick et al., 2004) of 24 chemicals that covered all the sensitiser's categories, i.e. weak, moderate, strong, extreme, and non-sensitisers; and various reaction mechanisms such as Michael addition, pro-Michael addition, SNAr, SN2, acylation and Schiff base formers. The best model that could be obtained with GSH was able to distinguish sensitisers from non-sensitisers by defining the formers as chemicals with a pEC50 > -0.55. If the results were combined with TETRATOX, which defined the skin sensitisers as chemicals with an excess toxicity >0.50, the prediction improved substantially and the model was able to correctly describe 23 out of 24 compounds. GSH depletion rates were also used (Aptula et al., 2007a) for a series of compounds only belonging to the Michael acceptor domain but no direct correlation was found to LLNA.

As mentioned above, GSH was also used by Alvarez-Sanchez et al. (Alvarez-Sanchez et al., 2004) together with a synthetic peptide analogous to the N-terminal chain of globin (H2N-VLSPADKTNWGHEYRMFQIG-CO2H) to complete the work on MCI and MI started with small nucleophiles (Alvarez-Sánchez et al., 2003). The two compounds were found reactive against GSH, but they showed different reactivity with the model peptide. MCI, a strong sensitiser, was found to react with histidine and lysine by forming stable adducts, however, no adducts were formed with MI. This was in agreement with the previous work, but the use of the synthetic peptide with various amino acids confirmed that the different reactivity against amino acids (Mutschler et al., 2009) other than cysteine, caused the different skin sensitisation potential of the two compounds.

The same peptide was used in conjunction with LC-MS and MS/MS by Eilstein and co-workers (Eilstein et al., 2008) to study the reactivity of p-amino aromatic compounds. They used a p-amino surrogate, 2,5-dimethyl-p-benzoquinonediimine, which was found to react specifically with the  $\varepsilon$ -NH2 group of lysine forming a Schiff base adduct. The lysine adduct was not stable and the peptide was found to react further by deaminating lysine, which caused subsequent intermolecular cyclisations. It is worth mentioning that the lack of cysteine in the experiment introduces a high uncertainty on the mechanistic results since it is more reactive than the used amino acids, which would surely have changed the outcome of the experiment.

The same peptide but including a cysteine residue, namely DS3 (VLSPADKTNWGHEYRMFCQIG) was used (Jenkinson et al., 2009) to study the binding sites, reactivity, and lymphocyte proliferation of less p-phenylamine. 2,5-dimethyl-p-benzoquinonediamine and а substituted namelv **p**phenylendiamine (PPD). This was an especially challenging case because PPD and 2,5-dimethyl-pbenzoquinonediamine are in principle non-sensitisers, but in water and under physiological conditions they easily oxidize to benzoquinonediimines, which are chemically reactive (Eilstein et al., 2006, 2007). Thus, these compounds were pre-haptens. The results showed that only adducts with cysteine residues were observed when the p-amines were incubated with the model peptide. Surprisingly, when PPD was incubated solely with N-acetyl cysteine, N-acetyl lysine or GSH, no adducts were detected. The presence of the amino acids seemed to inhibit the oxidation of PPD. This was confirmed when DS3 and PPD were incubated together with and without GSH, and a decrease on the formation of PPD-DS3 adducts was observed in the former case. Thus, the different reactivity of PPD against the different amino acids reported by Aleksic and co-workers (Aleksic et al., 2009) is explained by the different pH conditions of the experiments and the importance of the micro environment created by the residues nearby the nucleophilic centres of the residues. This last effect must be especially important in the DS3 case since due to its size it may generate a considerably complex environment that can affect the pKa of the nucleophilic centres and their reactivity.

The same procedure was applied (Fleischel et al., 2009) to study phenyl isocyanate and p-tolyl isocyanate, surrogates of industrially used aryl isocyanates that were found to be strong respiratory and skin allergens in animal models. The authors marked both compounds with 13C and used nuclear magnetic resonance (NMR) to determine the formation of adducts upon reaction with nucleophiles. The studies were carried out in solvent and pH conditions which minimised hydrolysis. The reactions against the amino acids of the form N-Ac-X (where X corresponds to Lys, His, Arg, Trp, Ser, Tyr, Thr, Cys, and Met) showed that the isocyanates were only reactive to Cys and Lys, even after 40 days of exposure, being Cys the most reactive one. Accordingly, adducts derived from reactions with amino and thiol groups were observed after incubation of the isocyanates with GSH or the model peptide H2N-VLSPADKTNWGHEYRMFQIG-CO2H, which corresponds to DS3 but without the Cys residue.

The NMR technique was used by Fujisawa and Kadoma (Fujisawa & Kadoma, 2009) to develop some QSARs for acrylates and methacrylates, which are used in dental resins. The authors used the chemical shifts ( $\delta$ ) of the atoms of the  $\alpha$ , $\beta$ -unsaturated moiety, namely C<sub> $\alpha$ </sub>, C<sub> $\beta$ </sub>, H<sub>a</sub>, and H<sub>b</sub> (where the hydrogens correspond to the ones attached to the C<sub> $\beta$ </sub>) to predict the reaction rates of (meth)acrylates against GSH. Various QSARs using  $\delta_{C_{\beta}}$ ,  $\delta_{H_{\alpha}}$ , and  $\delta_{H_{b}}$  as descriptors showed strong correlations to logK:

$$\log K_{GSH} = -48.6(\pm 0.2) + 0.4(\pm 0.0)\delta_{C_{\beta}}$$
(IV)  
n=11, r<sup>2</sup>=0.998, p<0.001

This finding is explained by the fact that acrylates react via Michael addition reaction type, which is driven by the reactivity (electrophilicity) of  $C_{\beta}$ , which is strongly related to the chemical shift. Although the domain is small and the compounds are very similar, the high correlation between logK and  $\delta$  is surprising. On the other hand, the logK of (meth)acrylates showed no correlation to acute toxicity in mice, as it had been seen elsewhere (Tanii & Hashimoto, 1982), and only when logP was included in the model a significant correlation was obtained:

$$LD_{50} = 15.1(\pm 17.3) + 37.9(\pm 10.1)\log P - 16.4(\pm 6.7)\log K$$
(V)  
n=8, r<sup>2</sup>=0.88, p<0.01

However, the validity of this model is dubious due to the high variability of the coefficients and the small number of points. In addition, Tanii and Hashimoto (Tanii & Hashimoto 1982) showed that logP and logK were highly dependent in (meth)acrylates and they could only develop models with one descriptor. They found high correlations between these descriptors and the oral toxicity of mice (LD50) to acrylates,

$$\log\left(\frac{1}{LD_{50}}\right) = -0.423\log P - 0.735$$
(VI)  
n=6, r<sup>2</sup>=-0.9909, P<0.05

and also logK,

$$\log\left(\frac{1}{LD_{50}}\right) = 1.808 \log K - 4.092$$
 (VII)

n=8, r<sup>2</sup>=0.889, P<0.05

but not for methacrylates, which showed correlations of -0.795 and 0.438 respectively. However, more chemicals must be included in the models in order to consider them for being used in risk assessment.

A slight variation of the methods reported so far for skin sensitisation prediction is the Surface Plasmon Resonance (SPR) (Nguyen et al., 2007). The SPR assay consists on optical biosensors that detect the intensity of the light reflected on a thin gold film placed between two layers of different refractive indexes. One molecule (in this case a protein surrogate) is immobilized on the surface and the others (allergens to be screened) are flowed continuously over the surface. When a molecule of the flow binds to the surface, therefore interacts with one of the immobilized molecules, the refractivity index of the layer changes, which varies the intensity of the reflected light. The changes in intensity are measured in real-time by the biosensors and are nearly proportional to the change of mass near the surface. This allows for the determination of the bound molecules, their concentration, and their binding and dissociation kinetics. The levels of interaction are measured by arbitrary units named resonance units. As in the classical *in chemico* experiments, the predictive power of this assay relays on the degree of accuracy between the skin sensitisation potency of the flowed chemicals and their binding affinity to the immobilized target(s).

Achilleos and co-workers (Achilleos et al., 2009) applied the SPR to 21 chemicals and 17 fragrances of different skin sensitisation potential, using as immobilized molecules the most reactive amino acids, i.e. cysteine, lysine, and histidine. The authors observed that the weak sensitisers established weak interactions with the targets and that they could be washed off by the flow. Moderate sensitisers were found to only establish strong interactions with cysteine, while strong and extreme sensitisers bound strongly to the different amino acids. This methodology offers fast and simple screening capabilities since it only requires low concentrations of chemicals, and no chemical labelling. Due to its novelty, it needs further experimentation to be used in regular risk assessments and its capability of testing mixtures of compounds needs to be assessed. Unfortunately, as most of the *in chemico* approaches it can neither account for pre- or pro-haptens.

By using 4-nitrobenzenethiol (NBT), Chipinda et al. (Chipinda et al., 2010) became one of the few exceptions that have not used peptides as protein surrogates in the last decade. They proposed a fast and simple stopped-flow and UV spectrophotometric assay which allowed for the determination of a wide range of reaction rates of chemicals. The method is especially convenient for studying chemicals which exhibit very fast reaction rates (t1/2=0.4ms to t1/2=46.2s) and are problematic in regular peptide reactivity assays due to their low sensitivity. With this method the drowning-out effects can be easily eliminated by changing the solvent. There are no evaporation losses of test chemical thanks to the use of a closed cell as reaction chamber. Moreover, the side reaction effects can be eliminated by carrying out the experiments with different electrophile concentrations and obtaining the reaction rate from the fitting of the different initial reaction rates to the concentration of electrophile. The authors tested 23 chemicals which were classified into Michael acceptors, SN1/SN2, and Acylating Agents applicability domains. The reaction rates obtained for the chemicals were correlated with the pEC3 values of corresponding LLNA experiments. Correlations of 0.87, 0.96, and 0.93 were found for the Michael acceptor, SN1/SN2, and Acylating Agent domains respectively, although the last two domains were not representative as they only contained 6 and 3 compounds each. Nevertheless, although low, a significant correlation of 0.74 was obtained when all the compounds were included in the same model. The models for the Michael addition and the general domain are presented next:

$$pEC3 = 0.81(\pm 0.11)\log K_a + 2.13(\pm 0.23)$$
 (VIII)  
n=10, r<sup>2</sup>=0.87, s=0.65, and F=52.3

$$pEC3 = 0.75(\pm 0.11)\log K_a + 1.79(\pm 0.21)$$
 (IX)  
n=19, r<sup>2</sup>=0.74, s=0.71, and F=47.2

where  $\log K_a$  corresponds to the reaction constant derived from the full kinetics.

#### 3.2. Aquatic toxicity

A pioneering work for predicting aquatic toxicity by means of chemical reactivity was carried out by Hermens and co-workers (Hermens et al., 1985). They studied the toxicity to guppy (LD50) for 16 reactive organic halides and observed that the compounds that were reactive to 4-nitrobenzylpyridine (NBP) were significantly more toxic than predicted by narcotic QSARs. No correlation was found to hydrophobicity and the best fit for guppy lethality was obtained with a bilinear QSAR using chemical reactivity to NBP as descriptor:

$$\log \frac{1}{LC_{50}} = -1.30 \log \left( 1.604 - \frac{1}{K_{NBP}} \right) + 4.35$$
(X)
n=15, r<sup>2</sup>=0.88, s=0.44

The work was completed (Hermens et al., 1987) with a series of organophosphorus compounds. As in the previous case, the inclusion of KNBP significantly improved the models, the best model being that which included hydrophobicity ( $\pi$ ) and KNBP:

$$\log \frac{1}{LC_{50}} = 0.23(\pm 0.08) \sum \pi + 0.80(\pm 0.12) \log K_{NBP} + 2.77$$
(XI)  
n=9, r<sup>2</sup>=0.92, s=0.19

The authors recognised the potential utility of the model and especially the KNBP assay, although it was only suitable for nucleophilic substitution reactions (SN) and not for other types like Schiff base formers or pro-electrophiles. In the same work, other QSARs for predicting LC50 and KNBP rates were built using different descriptors such as Hammett ( $\sigma$ ) constants, hydrophobicity ( $\pi$ ), and calculated KNBP. In all cases it was shown that KNBP was more important than hydrophobicity in order to obtain good toxicity predictions. On the other hand, hydrophobicity (logP) was found (Deneer, et al., 1988b) to be necessary to correctly predict the fish lethality of epoxides,

$$\log \frac{1}{LC_{50}} = 0.39(\pm 0.05)\log P + 3.0(\pm 0.4)\log K_{NBP} - 2.25$$
(XII)  
n=12, r<sup>2</sup>=0.945, s=0.27

Purdy showed (Purdy, 1991) that the reactivity of a series of epoxides against NBP could be successfully predicted with a superdelocalizability parameter calculated for the orbitals of the epoxide carbon atoms along the epoxide oxygen bond. The author also showed that the fish toxicity (LC50 of Poecilia Reticulata) could be accurately predicted ( $r^2$ =0.91) using only the superdelocalizability and logP descriptors.

The role that hydrophobicity plays in fish toxicity seems to be highly dependent on the type of chemical studied, since logP was shown (Deneer et al., 1988a) to be the only descriptor needed to predict the fish lethality of aldehydes:

$$\log \frac{1}{LC_{50}} = 0.36(\pm 0.04)\log P - 2.54$$
(XIII)  
n=14, r<sup>2</sup>=0.923, s=0.19

Although in this case cysteine was used as nucleophile instead of NBP, the fact that hydrophobicity was sufficient for the fish lethality prediction indicated that the uptake of aldehydes is the limiting factor of the toxic process of aldehydes.

Freidig and co-workers (Freidig et al., 1999) tried to build QSPRs (Quantitative-Structure Property Relationship) for predicting the reactivity of acrylates and methacrylates against nucleophiles of different strength including water, hydroxyl anion, and GSH. Due to the too small amount of data, no QSPRs for the hydrolysis of acrylates could be generated. However, a linear free energy relationship for the hydrolysis of methacrylates showed that the hydrolysis rate could be significantly correlated to the Taft parameter ( $\sigma$ \*). The authors built a QSPR model for the prediction of GSH reactivity. It only included theoretical parameters such as charged densities on the carbon atoms involved in Michael type additions and  $E_{LUMO}$ :

$$\log K_{GSH} = 2.65q(C_{\beta}) - 1.37q(C_{\alpha}) + 3.39q(C_{1}) - 49.33E_{LUMO}$$
(XIV)  
n=12, r<sup>2</sup>=0.932

The parameters were calculated at the *ab initio* and semiempirical levels, revealing that the former were a better correlation with GSH reactivity, which was translated into better reactivity predictions. *Ab initio* methods are based on the solution of the Schrödinger equation to obtain the molecular energy. No experimental parameters are used in the calculation. On the other hand, the semiempirical methods are also based on the solution of the Schrödinger equation but they make use of a series of parameters which are adjusted to experimental data in order to obtain the best results. The semiempirical methods are much faster than *ab initio* ones but they might perform poorly in some cases if the system of study is not properly described by the model (method or theory).

In another study, the same authors showed that the predictability of QSARs could be improved if the datasets were divided by modes of action differentiating reactive toxicity from narcotic toxicity (Freidig & Hermens, 2001).

Schultz and co-workers (Schultz et al., 2005b) used the GSH assay to predict the IGC<sub>50</sub> of Tetrahymena pyriformis for a series of isothiocyanates. They used a model (Schultz & Netzeva, 2004) developed for substituted benzenes based on  $\log K_{ow}$  and the maximum acceptor superdelocalizability ( $A_{max}$ ).

$$\log\left(\frac{1}{IGC_{50}}\right) = 0.545 \log K_{ow} + 16.21A_{max} - 5.91$$
(XV)  
n=384, r<sup>2</sup>(pred)=0.856, s=0.275, F=1163, Pr > F=0.0001

Accordingly, good results for phenyl and naphthyl derivatives were obtained, although the good performance was partly due to the fact that all the compounds used in the model were Michael acceptors. However, it was surprising that the model performed better than the one which only included GSH reactivity as descriptor:

$$\log\left(\frac{1}{IGC_{50}}\right) = 1.77 \left(\log\frac{1}{EC_{50}}\right) + 0.60$$
(XVI)  
n=12, r<sup>2</sup>=0.718, s=0.34, F=26, q<sup>2</sup>=0.629

Both models overpredicted the toxicity of 4-butylphenyl, benzoyl, and cinnamyl analogues, probably due to hydrolisation. The authors concluded that benzyl-like derivatives were more toxic than phenyl-like ones because of the different electron density at the central C atom, which is the one attacked in the Michael-addition type reactions.

Another study (Schultz et al., 2006) performed by some of the authors showed a different model for aquatic toxicity (IGC50 of Tetrahymena pyriformis) for 12 Michael-type acceptors:

$$\log\left(\frac{1}{IGC_{50}}\right) = 0.975 \left(\log\frac{1}{EC_{50}}\right) - 0.592$$
(XVII)  
n=12, r<sup>2</sup>=0.952, s=0.24, F=221, Pr>F = 0.0001

The work was extended later (Yarbrough & Schultz, 2007) to carbonyl compounds containing  $(\alpha,\beta)$  unsaturated groups, i.e. aliphatic esters, ketones, and aldehydes. 41 chemicals were included and a rather similar model with a slightly better fit was obtained, yet only consisting of GSH reactivity:

$$\log\left(\frac{1}{IGC_{50}}\right) = 0.936(\pm 0.055)\left(\log\frac{1}{EC_{50}}\right) + 0.508(\pm 0.064)$$
(XVIII)  
n=41, r<sup>2</sup>=0.846, s=0.35, F=214, q<sup>2</sup>=0.832

It was encouraging, for the future use of *in chemico* approaches in toxicological assessment, that the GSH assay was able to distinguish the compounds reacting by Michael-addition from the non-reactive ones.

Böhme et al. (Böhme et al., 2009) modified the GSH assay and measured second order reaction rates and pseudo-first order for the less reactive compounds. Also, the amount of GSH depletion caused by GSH oxidation was measured so as to obtain the real GSH depletion. They measured the reaction rates for 26 compounds acting as Michael acceptors including 15  $\alpha$ , $\beta$ -unsaturated ketones, 9 acrylates (methacrylates and crotonates), and 2 propiolates. An excellent correlation of r<sup>2</sup>=0.91 between the GSH depletion reaction rate (K<sub>GSH</sub>) and acute aquatic toxicity (48h growth inhibition of Tetrhymena pyriformis, EC50) was found for the 26 compounds:

$$\log EC_{50} = -0.673(\pm 0.042)\log K_{GSH} - 2.877(\pm 0.067)$$
(XIX)  
n=26, r<sup>2</sup>=0.91, q<sup>2</sup><sub>CV</sub>=0.89, rms=0.30, rms<sub>cv</sub>=0.34, and F<sub>1.24</sub>=257

where  $q^2_{CV}$  corresponds to the correlation coefficient in the leave-one-out cross validation, rms is the root mean square error of the calibration, and  $F_{1,24}$  is the Fisher test value.

The SN2 domain was analyzed with GSH by Schultz and co-workers (Roberts et al., 2009; Schultz et al., 2006; Schultz et al., 2007). They measured the reactivity against GSH (RC50) for 60 haloaliphatic compounds. Since a large correlation between pRC50 and KGSH was found ( $r^2$ =0.98), as in the study by Böhme and colleagues (Böhme et al, 2009), the authors decided to use pRC50 as descriptor instead of KGSH. The 60 compounds were classified according to their reaction characteristics into: non-activated primary halides, halides activated by an unsaturated hydrocarbon, halides activated by an electron-withdrawing group, and compounds with a not clearly defined reaction mechanism. All the non-activated primary halides were found to be not reactive to GSH, which was explained by the fact that their toxicity was consistent with narcotic effects and not to chemical reactivity. A highly significant correlation was obtained for the halides activated by electron-withdrawing groups:

$$pIGC_{50} = 0.94(\pm 0.07)pRC_{50} + 1.34(\pm 0.07)$$
 (XX)  
n=22, r<sup>2</sup>=0.889, s=0.27, and F=161

It was observed that the GSH measure underestimated the toxicity of the second group of compounds, halides activated by an unsaturated hydrocarbon. Thus, the real toxicity was found to be higher than that obtained with the equation presented above. This was explained by the possible hydrolysis and evaporation side reactions that could have taken place when performing the GSH assay. The generation of a model for the last group of compounds was unviable due to the homogeneity of the group. However, some of the compounds were found to be correctly predicted by the model showed above, and they were included in the domain leading to the following model:

$$pIGC_{50} = 0.99(\pm 0.05)pRC_{50} + 1.28(\pm 0.05)$$
 (XXI)  
n=31, r<sup>2</sup>=0.936, s=0.25, and F=426

The mismatch between experimental and calculated toxicity for the rest of the compounds, which were not correctly predicted with this model, was easily rationalized in terms of substituent effects on reactivity.

GSH reactivity was used in a slightly different approach by Gagan and co-workers (Gagan et al., 2007). They studied the toxicity of a mixture of organic chemicals, which counter intuitively is in general close to dose-additive, *i.e.* total toxicity is equal to the sum of the parts, even though the toxicity of the different chemicals is induced at different sites. A mixture of soft electrophiles with the non polar narcotic 3-methyl-2-butanone (NPN) was tested for its aquatic toxicity by means of the Microtox protocol, in which the chemicals are put in contact in aqueous solution with fluorescent bacteria (Vibrio fischeri) and the changes on the luminescence are analyzed along time giving the

time-dependent toxicity. The GSH reactivity was used to determine the chemical reactivity of the individual electrophiles to later compare it with the mixture reactivity and to determine the mode of action. The results indicated that S<sub>N</sub>2 agents could have more than one site of action. The fact that the NPN: $S_N$  mixtures exhibited a toxicity lower to that predicted by the dose-addition model, indicated that part of the toxicity exhibited by the S<sub>N</sub>2 electrophiles was due to narcotic effects. On the other hand, the toxic effects of  $S_NAr$  chemicals were fully time-dependent and the toxicity of NPN:  $S_NAr$ mixture was closer to dose-additive. This was explained by the fact that the reactivity of S<sub>N</sub>Ar compounds was limited to the thiol groups and NPN to lipid membranes. Thus, due to the different modes of action of NPN and S<sub>N</sub>Ar, the toxicities had dose-additive behaviour. A second part of this work (Dawson et al., 2008) studied the mixture toxicity for a series of Michael acceptors. They observed that there was a clear correlation between toxicity in the Microtox assay and GSH reactivity. Comparing the results of both assays for compounds alone, mixtures, and different times of exposure, it was concluded that the compounds with lower reactivity against GSH may have react with different active sites, *i.e.* proteins and cell membranes. Accordingly, the mixtures of such compounds were found to have a toxicity just approximately dose-additive, whereas the mixtures of compounds which exhibited high reactivity to GSH were found to be strictly dose-additive. Very similar results were also observed for a series of alpha-halogenated acetonitriles (Dawson et al., 2010).

A theoretical descriptor developed for skin sensitisation prediction, AEI, was used by Aptula and coworkers (Aptula et al., 2005b) to predict IGC<sub>50</sub> of Tetrahymena pyriformis. They used N-butylamine as nucleophile model to study 40 polyhydroxybenzene derivatives, thought to be pro-Michael acceptors. The compounds that could not be oxidized to reactive quinones, *i.e.* meta-substituted hydroquinones, were excluded from the model. Actually, their toxicity was shown to be correctly predicted by hydrophobicity, indicating that they were not pro-electrophiles but acted as polar narcotics. A significant and good correlation for the remaining compounds was achieved with AEI:

$$pIGC_{50}(adj) = -0.49(\pm 0.06)AEI + 6.85(\pm 0.69)$$
(XXII)  
n=18, r<sup>2</sup>=0.821, q<sup>2</sup>=0.774, s=0.24, F=73

Note that pIGC50(adj) corresponds to pIGC50 adjusted according to the number of reactive centres. Thus, molecules with 2 reactive centres are adjusted by  $-\log(2)$ . In this case, the addition of logP to the equation did not improve the model significantly.

#### 3.3. Hepatotoxicity

GSH plays an important role in the liver since cell death after exposure to quinones is preceded by GSH depletion (Bolton et al., 1992). However, only a few *in chemico* applications using GSH depletion for the prediction of hepatotoxicity have been reported.

One of the few studies was carried out by Chan and co-workers (Chan et al., 2008) who studied in detail the hepatotoxic properties of a series of substituted p-benzoquinones. They determined the cytotoxicity of p-benzoquinones on rat and human hepatocytes and built some QSARs based on physicochemical properties of the compounds. They used  $E_{LUMO}$ ,  $E_{HOMO}$ , dipole moment, nucleophilic frontier density, logP, molar refractivity, electron reduction potential, and electrophilic reactivity expressed as GSH depletion rate. From a theoretical point of view, it was expected that the GSH reactivity could be predicted by  $E_{LUMO}$ , since it corresponds to the energy of the orbital where the electron shared by the nucleophile will be placed after the attack, in other words it is an indicator of the susceptibility of the chemical to be attacked by a nucleophile. Consequently, the authors found a significant correlation between GSH reactivity of p-benzoquinones and  $E_{LUMO}$ :

$$\log K_{GSH} = -18.38 - 16.78E_{LUMO} - 3.19(E_{LUMO})^2$$
 (XXIII)

n=10, r<sup>2</sup>=0.80, P=0.008

In addition, rat hepatotoxicity was found to be significantly correlated to GSH reactivity,

$$\log LC_{50} = 4.65 - 0.92 \log K_{GSH}$$
 (XXIV)

n=10, r<sup>2</sup>=0.82, P<0.001

and even more to  $E_{LUMO}$ ,

$$\log LC_{50} = 424.54 + 17.7E_{LUMO} + 3.36(E_{LUMO})^2$$
(XXV)  
n=9, r<sup>2</sup>=0.90, P=0.002

It was surprising that human hepatotoxicity was not correlated at all to GSH reactivity ( $r^2=0.40$ , P=0.1) or E<sub>LUMO</sub> ( $r^2=0.55$ , P=0.1). The authors also defined some structure-activity relationships, mainly based on the electron-donor character and steric hindrance properties of the substituents, which were in agreement with those reported by Schultz et al. (Schultz et al., 2007). It is worth noting that no correlation was found between cytotoxicity and logP, indicating that membrane permeation and metabolic enzyme interaction, factors for which logP accounts for, are not limiting factors for hepatotoxicity of p-benzoquinones.

One of the latest *in chemico* applications that has been presented is the use of GSH as a trapping agent in a mouse liver microsomal assay for the screening of pharmaceutical reactive metabolites (LeBlanc et al., 2010; Ma & Chan 2010). The formation of reactive drug metabolites is the main cause of drug-induced toxicity, and thus it is very important to assess such an issue in an early stage of drug development.

In this experiment four drug components known to produce reactive metabolites were incubated with liver enzymes and GSH-Br, and the adduct formation was analyzed by LC and MS. The use of GSH-Br was a success as it offered higher sensitivity and lower false positives rates than the regular GSH.

#### 3.4. Respiratory toxicity

Due to the lack of a well-validated method for the determination of respiratory allergens and hence of reference data, very few studies have used *in chemico* assays to predict respiratory toxicity. One of the few applications was presented by Rothe and co-workers (Rothe et al., 2008) who used a standard peptide binding assay (Gerberick et al., 2007) with several respiratory allergens. The experiment was not informative since the chemicals showed different reactivity to the peptides with no clear pattern. The authors pointed out that the lack of consistent results might be due to side reactivity with water or to steric hindrance of the peptide, although we doubt of the latter reason as it has been used before for other applications with no such problems.

A better result was obtained by Schultz et al. (2006a) who developed a QSAR model based on the RAI and GSH reactivity for predicting inhalation toxicity of 19 chemicals. The model showed a good correlation although with a small number of chemicals. Six non toxic chemicals were discarded since they were found to be non reactive against GSH, and from the remaining chemicals, only those considered Michael-type acceptors (a total of ten compounds) were included, leading to:

$$\log RD_{50} = 0.598 (\log EC_{50}) + 1.03$$
 (XXVI)  
n=10, r<sup>2</sup>=0.846, s=0.31, F=44, Pr>F = 0.0001

Further references on the development of novel approaches for respiratory toxicity are provided elsewhere (Roggen et al., 2008).

### **3.5. Miscellaneous toxicological effects**

A number of studies have investigated the relationship between reactivity and genotoxicity, although contradictory results were obtained. For instance, the alkylation rate constants of chemicals with NBP (Eder et al., 1980; Eder et al., 1982; Epstein et al. 1955; Hemminki & Falck, 1979; Hemminki et al., 1980; Hemminki et al., 1983a,b; Neudecker et al., 1980) showed that the alkylation potential correlated well with mutagenicity, and that the reaction mechanisms played a major role (Singer, 1976). However, other studies (Müller et al., 1998) pointed out that *in chemico* methodology was better used as an exploratory tool than a predictive tool, showing in some cases very limited predictability (McCarthy et al., 1994).

Schmidt et al. (Schmidt et al., 2007) used the reactivity against GSH to understand the performance of dimethyl fumarate (DMF), a substance used to treat Psoriasis, a chronic inflammatory skin disease (Gottlieb, 2005). Psoriasis has been effectively treated during decades with DMF, but their mode of action and pharmacokinetics are not fully understood. DMF is highly reactive and is administered orally, thus it is seems difficult that DMF reaches the blood stream unaltered. Schmidt et al. measured GSH reactivity at different pHs to analyze the products formation and reaction kinetics of DMF and methylhydrogen fumarate (MHF), a DMF metabolite with longer half life suspected of being the real active species (see original work for related references). MHF was found to be 30 times less reactive than DMF, which suggested that MHF would remain longer in the cells and therefore might be the active species. Another hypothesis was that the active species was in fact the adduct GSH-DMF. The authors studied the metabolites of these adducts, that is N-acetylcysteine derivates, and the possible products formed upon reaction with DMF. They observed that the products were very similar to the ones formed upon reaction with GSH and after some other experiments with MHF, it was concluded that the low reaction rate of MHF at physiological pH explained its presence in blood after administration, and that MHF may account for the anti-inflammatory effects because of its longer unaltered presence in the cell.

Harder et al. (Harder et al., 2003) analysed the toxic effects of a set of chemicals against Escherichia Coli to determine their mode of toxic action. The chemicals were classified into three groups corresponding to GSH depletion, DNA damage, and unspecific reactivity. QSARs were built for each group using GSH and 2'-deoxyguanosine depletion rates, respectively. The inclusion of hydrophobicity did not improve the models, showing that the toxicity limiting factor was chemical reactivity. The authors also measured the toxic effects of the compounds on higher organisms such as algae, daphnia, and fish; and significant correlations were obtained with Escherichia Coli although the domains were too small to be considered ready-to-use QSARs. Thus, the relative toxicity of chemicals against Escherichia Coli was shown to be a good toxicity indicator, yet not a predictor, for higher organisms. In addition, the authors proposed the use of the chemical reactivity against the different surrogates as indicator of mode of action, which could be used in the classification of chemicals.

A different type of toxicity than the ones mentioned above is that caused by metals. Metals do not bind covalently to nucleophiles, but complexate with electron rich centres of proteins or enzymes (O, N and S) changing their structure, and therefore their activity. Metal complexation is related to protein malfunction, which may translate into allergic type reactions, although the type of response may vary depending on the route of exposure, concentration, and metal type. This number of variables makes of metal toxicity a process that is not fully understood. One of the very few studies in which in chemico techniques are used to determine metal toxicity was carried out by Razmiafshari and co-workers. (Razmiafshari et al. 2001; Razmiafshari & Zawia, 2000) They used a peptide of 26 amino acids as a surrogate for zinc finger proteins, which coordinate to a Zn atom and regulate gene expression. The

authors studied the interactions of the surrogate with the metals Pb, Hg, Cd, and Ca with NMR. The first three atoms were shown to complexate with His and Cys residues, whereas Ca was not. These findings were in agreement with another work of the same authors (Razmiafshari & Zawia 2000) in which they showed that the metals which modified the DNA binding properties of the protein also modified the DNA binding properties of the peptide. Thus, it was proved that the peptide a good surrogate for the zinc finger protein. More information on metal ion toxicity can be found in a review by Martin (Martin, 2006).

#### **3.6. Integrated testing strategies**

Natsch and co-workers (Natsch et al., 2009) have used a battery of data from various existing methods to predict the skin sensitisation potency of 116 chemicals. They used Cys depletion rates, luciferase induction cell-line based assay (ARE) (Natsch & Emter 2008; Wang et al., 2006) calculated cLogP, and toxicology in silico predictions. In the original proposal (Jowsey et al., 2006) and the subsequent update (Basketter & Kimber, 2009) the results of the battery test were obtained as a multiplication of factors of its individuals giving a final score that defined the sensitisation potency categories. With such an approach, if any of the assays determined that a chemical was non-toxic, and therefore scored zero, the global score became zero too. This made the method highly specific as all the tested chemicals that were found toxic in the battery test, were also positive in the LLNA. However, this also translated into low sensitivity as many sensitisers were not detected because in one of the assays they were not found active, and therefore obtained an overall score of 0. This approach was immediately noted by Roberts and Patlewicz (Roberts & Patlewicz, 2010) as a classical QSAR. They justified the need to express it as such and to suppress some of its components like bioavailability. On the same line, Natsch and co-workers (Natsch et al., 2009) also proposed variations of the multiplication approach consisting of the use of average scores of experimental assays. The authors applied the average scores to 116 skin sensitisers, and observed that neither the TImes MEtabolism simulator (TIMES) skin sensitisation (TIMES SS) model nor cLogP significantly improved the correlation. A regression analysis including all the data showed that the best results were obtained with only two parameters, corresponding to Cys depletion and the antioxidant response element (ARE) EC 1.5 Score, which is the average concentration of chemical inducing 1.5 fold gene activity. The final model, which exhibited near 87% sensitivity, 81% specificity, 92% positive predictability, 70% negative predictability, and 85% accuracy reads as:

Another example of the potential of the *in chemico* approach in test-battery experiments can be observed in the work of Bergström et al. (Bergström et al., 2007). They combined the use of some *in vitro* and *in chemico* approaches to determine the skin sensitisation potential of carvoxime, an  $\alpha$ , $\beta$ -unsaturated oxime. Carvoxime, chemically identified as (5R)-5-Isopropenyl-2-methyl-2-cyclohexene-1-one oxime, was incubated with mouse and human liver microsomes together with GSH. The detection of GSH conjugates proved that carvoxime was a pro-electrophilic compound or a pro-hapten. The reactivity of the formed metabolites was further analyzed using a model peptide for GSH, namely N-ACME which corresponds to N-acetyl-L-cysteine and contains the same nucleophile group as GSH. Due to the high reactivity observed, a new mechanism involving nitroso intermediates was proposed. The ability of the metabolites to bind to proteins was analyzed with another model peptide, namely PHCKRM (Pro-His-Cys-Lys-Arg-Met). This peptide had already been used (Nilsson et al., 2005) to study a very similar pro-electrophile namely (5R)-5-isopropenyl-2-methyl-1-methylene-2-cyclohexene, whose metabolites were found to bind to cysteine and lysine residues; and to classify epoxides with respect to their skin sensitisation potency (Niklasson et al., 2009). This peptide is a good surrogate for proteins because it contains hard and soft nucleophiles and allows for the determination of the reactive sites. In addition to all the *in chemico* experiments, the toxicity of the metabolites was determined by means of the LLNA assay, and their cross-reactivity by the Mouse Ear Swelling Test (MEST) approach (Gad et al., 1986) which is based on the measurement of the thickness of the ear of mice before and after exposure to the test chemical.

Reactivity towards GSH (Kay & Murfitt, 1966) was also used in test-battery strategies, mainly consisting of *in vitro* tests, to determine the aquatic toxicity for a series of chemicals with different modes of action. (Nendza & Wenzel 2006; Wenzel et al., 1997) The GSH assay was basically used to determine alkylating agents. The EC50 values of the test compounds were obtained by measuring the free GSH with alloxan (5,6-dioxyuracil), which can be determined spectrophotometrically.

# 4. Advantages and limitations of the *in chemico* approach

The main advantage of the *in chemico* approach with respect to bioassays is its simplicity. It allows for a high control of the experimental conditions and a high reproducibility. Furthermore, chemical reactivity can be explained in terms of organic chemistry alone. The *in chemico* approach provides a relatively easy means of screening chemicals with different model nucleophiles, determining their reactivity potency and studying their reaction mechanisms. In addition, *in chemico* experiments are practical since they can be carried out with instruments that are commonly found in regular laboratories, such as a Liquid Chromatography-Mass Spectrometer (LC-MS).

The main source of error of *in chemico* experiments is the degree of mismatch in the behaviour of the nucleophile, i.e. protein surrogate, and the real system. A small chemical cannot completely represent the behaviour of a protein, since the nucleophilicity of a protein nucleophile is affected by other parts of the protein. In addition, the nucleophilicity of the surrogate can be modified by the non-physiological conditions under which the experiment is carried out, which thus represents another source of error. However, the consequence of these effects is reduced if the chemical reactivity potency is treated on a relative scale since the chemical measurements will be systematically biased, but they will keep their relative potencies.

Like most *in silico* and *in vitro* methods, *in chemico* assays cannot on their own account for pre- and pro-haptens.

While *in chemico* methods cannot represent standalone alternatives to *in vivo* tests, thanks to their simplicity and reliability, they can be useful components of integrated testing strategies (Vonk, et al., 2009).

# **5.** Summary and Conclusions

The objectives of this review were to introduce the *in chemico* approach to toxicity prediction and give a broad overview of the different applications that have been explored. We also intended this report to be used as a handbook of *in chemico* QSAR models, and for this purpose a list of published QSARs including endpoints modelled, nucleophiles and electrophiles used, descriptors used, and a short description of each model is provided (Appendix 1).

*In chemico* approaches are based on the relationship between chemical reactivity and toxicity. This relationship is particularly well established in the case of skin sensitisation (Divkovic et al., 2005; Karlberg et al. 2008; Kimber et al. 2010; Lepoittevin; 2006; Lepoittevin et al., 1997; Saint-Mezard et al. 2004). In addition, a number of studies have developed the *in chemico* approach for the prediction of aquatic toxicity and hepatotoxicity. The list was completed with a few additional studies with miscellaneous applications including respiratory toxicity, metal toxicity, and genotoxicity.

Most of the reviewed studies built quantitative models for toxicity prediction based on chemical reactivity measurements. Some of these models not only used reaction rates as experimental descriptors, but also theoretical reactivity descriptors such  $E_{LUMO}$ , and other parameters such as hydrophobicity. Most of these models were derived using small numbers of chemicals, and usually belonging to the same family. This limits the general use of chemicalmethodology in hazard assessments. To partially overcome this limitation, the use of reaction-mechanism based applicability domains (Aptula et al 2006; Lipnick 1991; Veith 2004) which allow for larger and more heterogeneous domains, is a promising way forward.

In most of the reported applications, chemical reactivity is measured as rates of depletion or adduct formation. These measurements can present artifacts, thus, the use of analytical techniques such as LC/MS or NMR is indispensable to assure accurate measurements.

The degree of accuracy between chemical reactivity and toxicity is highly dependent on the type of nucleophile used as a protein surrogate. The first *in chemico* studies generally used small chemicals such as n-butylamine or NBP as surrogates, but the use of peptides has become more common in the last 20 years. This shifting to the use of peptides is conceptually appropriate because of the higher similarity with proteins, which are in most of the cases the target of the toxicant. It is not clear whether any single peptide should be the nucleophile of choice since various have been investigated but none appears to have performed systematically better than the others. GSH is the most commonly used surrogate, but it only accounts for cysteine residue in its structure. The fact that many toxic effects are caused by interactions with residues others than cysteine and that some studies (Gerberick et al. 2007; Natsch et al., 2007) have shown better predictivity when using different peptides, indicates that a selection of different (residue-containing) peptides might be useful.

*In chemico* methods are in general highly reproducible, technically fast and simple to apply, and provide accurate information regarding reaction rates, reaction sites, and adduct formation. In addition, *in chemico* experiments are amenable to automation, which increases their reliability and efficiency. On the other hand, the existing models are generally restricted to small domains and need to be challenged further to establish their applicability. *In chemico* models cannot on their own be used to evaluate pro- and pre-haptens, and their capacity to predict mixtures still needs to be confirmed. For these reasons, *in chemico* approaches should not be used as standalone alternatives to animal testing, but they are expected to be useful components in integrated testing strategies.

### 6. Acknowledgements and Disclaimer

Any conclusions and opinions expressed in this document are those of the authors as individual scientists and do not constitute an official position by the JRC or the European Commission. The authors are grateful to Dr Enrico Burello (JRC) for helpful comments on this work.

### 7. References

- Achilleos C, Tailhardat M, Courtellemont P, Le Varlet B & Dupont D (2009). Investigation of surface plasmon resonance biosensor for skin sensitizers studies. *Toxicology in Vitro* 23, 308-318.
- Adler S, Basketter D, Creton S, Pelkonen O, van Benthem J, Zuang V, Andersen KE, Angers-Loustau A, Aptula A, Bal-Price A, Benfenati E, Bernauer U, Bessems J, Bois FY, Boobis A, Brandon E, Bremer S, Broschard T, Casati S, Coecke S, Corvi R, Cronin M, Daston G, Dekant W, Felter S, Grignard E, Gundert-Remy U, Heinonen T, Kimber I, Kleinjans J, Komulainen H, Kreiling R, Kreysa J, Leite SB, Loizou G, Maxwell G, Mazzatorta P, Munn S, Pfuhler S, Phrakonkham P, Piersma A, Poth A, Prieto P, Repetto G, Rogiers V, Schoeters G, Schwarz M, Serafimova R, Tahti H, Testai E, van Delft J, van Loveren H, Vinken M, Worth A & Zaldivar JM (2011). Alternative (non-animal) methods for cosmetics testing: current status and future prospects-2010. Archives of Toxicology **85**, 367-485.
- Ahlfors SR, Kristiansson MH, Lindh CH, Jonsson BAG & Hansson C (2005). Adducts between nucleophilic amino acids and hexahydrophthalic anhydride, a structure inducing both types I and IV allergy. *Biomarkers* 10, 321-335.
- Ahlfors SR, Sterner O & Hansson C (2003). Reactivity of contact allergenic haptens to amino acid residues in a model carrier peptide, and characterization of formed peptide-hapten adducts. Skin Pharmacology and Applied Skin Physiology 16, 59-68.
- Aleksic M, Pease CK, Basketter DA, Panico M, Morris HR & Dell A (2008). Mass spectrometric identification of covalent adducts of the skin allergen 2,4-dinitro-1-chlorobenzene and model skin proteins. Toxicology in Vitro 22, 1169-1176.
- Aleksic M, Thain E, Roger D, Saib O, Davies M, Li J, Aptula A & Zazzeroni R (2009). Reactivity Profiling: Covalent Modification of Single Nucleophile Peptides for Skin Sensitization Risk Assessment. Toxicological Sciences 108, 401-411.
- Alvarez-Sánchez R, Basketter D, Pease C & Lepoittevin J-P (2003). Studies of Chemical Selectivity of Hapten, Reactivity, and Skin Sensitization Potency. 3. Synthesis and Studies on the Reactivity toward Model Nucleophiles of the 13C-Labeled Skin Sensitizers, 5-Chloro-2-methylisothiazol-3-one (MCI) and 2-Methylisothiazol-3-one (MI). *Chemical Research in Toxicology* 16, 627-636.
- Alvarez-Sanchez R, Basketter D, Pease C & Lepoittevin JP (2004). Covalent binding of the C-13-labeled skin sensitizers 5-chloro-2-methylisothiazol-3-one (MCI) and 2-methylisothiazol-3-one (MI) to a model peptide and glutathione. *Bioorganic & Medicinal Chemistry Letters* 14, 365-368.
- Aptula AO, Patlewicz G, Roberts DW & Schultz TW (2006). Non-enzymatic glutathione reactivity and in vitro toxicity: A non-animal approach to skin sensitization. *Toxicology in Vitro* **20**, 239-247.
- Aptula AO & Roberts DW (2006). Mechanistic Applicability Domains for Nonanimal-Based Prediction of Toxicological End Points: General Principles and Application to Reactive Toxicity. *Chemical Research in Toxicology* 19, 1097-1105.
- Aptula AO, Roberts DW & Cronin MTD (2005a). From Experiment to Theory: Molecular Orbital Parameters to Interpret the Skin Sensitization Potential of 5-Chloro-2-methylisothiazol-3-one and 2-Methylisothiazol-3one. *Chemical Research in Toxicology* 18, 324-329.
- Aptula AO, Roberts DW, Cronin MTD & Schultz TW (2005b). Chemistry-toxicity relationships for the effects of Di-and trihydroxybenzenes to Tetrahymena pyriformis. *Chemical Research in Toxicology* **18**, 844-854.
- Aptula AO, Roberts DW & Pease CK (2007b). Haptens, prohaptens and prehaptens, or electrophiles and proelectrophiles. *Contact Dermatitis* **56**, 54-U14.
- Aptula N, Roberts DW, Schultz TW & Pease C (2007a). Reactivity assays for non-animal based prediction of skin sensitisation potential. *Toxicology* **231**, 117-118.
- Ashby J, Basketter DA, Paton D & Kimber I (1995). Structure activity relationships in skin sensitization using the murine local lymph node assay. *Toxicology* **103**, 177-194.

- Barratt MD, Basketter DA & Roberts DW (1994). Skin sensitization structure-activity relationships for phenyl benzoates. *Toxicology in Vitro* **8**, 823-826.
- Basketter DA & Kimber I (2009). Updating the skin sensitization in vitro data assessment paradigm in 2009. *Journal of Applied Toxicology* **29**, 545-550.
- Basketter DA, Lea LJ, Dickens A, Briggs D, Pate I, Dearman RJ & Kimber I (1999). A comparison of statistical approaches to the derivation of EC3 values from local lymph node assay dose responses. *Journal of Applied Toxicology* **19**, 261-266.
- Basketter DA & Roberts DW (1990). Structure-Activity-Relationships in contact allergy. *International Journal* of Cosmetic Science 12, 81-90.
- Basketter DA, Roberts DW & Cronin MTD (1992). The value of the local lymph node assay in quantitative structure-activity investigations. *Contact Dermatitis* **27**, 137-142.
- Bergström MA, Luthman K & Karlberg AT (2007). Metabolic epoxidation of an alpha, beta-unsaturated oxime generates sensitizers of extreme potency. Are nitroso intermediates responsible? *Chemical Research in Toxicology* 20, 927-936.
- Bohme A, Thaens D, Paschke A & Schuurmann G (2009). Kinetic Glutathione Chemoassay To Quantify Thiol Reactivity of Organic Electrophiles-Application to alpha, beta-Unsaturated Ketones, Acrylates, and Propiolates. *Chemical Research in Toxicology* 22, 742-750.
- Bolton JL, Valerio LG & Thompson JA (1992). The enzymatic formation and chemical-reactivity of quinone methides correlate with alkylphenol-induced toxicity in rat hepatocytes. *Chemical Research in Toxicology* **5**, 816-822.
- Buehler EV (1965). Delayed contact hypersensitivity in the guinea pig. Archives of Dermatology 91, 171-177.
- Chan K, Jensen N & O'Brien PJ (2008). Structure-activity relationships for thiol reactivity and rat or human hepatocyte toxicity induced by substituted p-benzoquinone compounds. *Journal of Applied Toxicology* **28**, 608-620.
- Chipinda I, Ajibola RO, Morakinyo MK, Ruwona TB, Simoyi RH & Siegel PD (2010). Rapid and Simple Kinetics Screening Assay for Electrophilic Dermal Sensitizers Using Nitrobenzenethiol. *Chemical Research* in Toxicology 23, 918-925.
- Cronin MTD, Bajot F, Enoch SJ, Madden JC, Roberts DW & Schwobel J (2009). The In Chemico-In Silico Interface: Challenges for Integrating Experimental and Computational Chemistry to Identify Toxicity. *Alternatives to Laboratory Animals* **37**, 513-521.
- Dawson DA, Allen JL, Schultz TW & Poech G (2008). Time-dependence in mixture toxicity with softelectrophiles: 2. Effects of relative reactivity level on time-dependent toxicity and combined effects for selected Michael acceptors. Journal of Environmental Science and Health Part a-Toxic/Hazardous Substances & Environmental Engineering 43, 43-52.
- Dawson DA, Jeyaratnam J, Mooneyham T, Poch G & Schultz TW (2010). Mixture Toxicity of S<sub>N</sub>2-Reactive Soft Electrophiles: 1. Evaluation of Mixtures Containing alpha-Halogenated Acetonitriles. Archives of Environmental Contamination and Toxicology 59, 532-541.
- Deneer JW, Seinen W & Hermens JLM (1988a). The acute toxicity of aldehydes to the guppy. Aquatic Toxicology 12, 185-192.
- Deneer JW, Sinnige TL, Seinen W & Hermens JLM (1988b). A Quantitative Structure Activity Relationship for the acute toxicity of some epoxy compounds to the guppy. *Aquatic Toxicology* **13**, 195-204.
- Divkovic M, Pease CK, Gerberick GF & Basketter DA (2005). Hapten-protein binding: from theory to practical application in the in vitro prediction of skin sensitization. *Contact Dermatitis* **53**, 189-200.
- Eder E, Neudecker T, Lutz D & Henschler D (1980). Mutagenic potential of allyl and allylic compounds: Structure-activity relationship as determined by alkylating and direct in vitro mutagenic properties. *Biochemical Pharmacology* **29**, 993-998.
- Eder E, Neudecker T, Lutz D & Henschler D (1982). Correlation of alkylating and mutagenic activities of allyl and allylic compounds Standard alkylation test vs Kinetic investigation. *Chemico-Biological Interactions* **38**, 303-315.

- Eilstein J, Gimenez-Arnau E, Duche D, Cavusoglu N, Hussler G, Rousset F & Lepoittevin JP (2008). Sensitization to p-amino aromatic compounds: Study of the covalent binding of 2,5-dimethyl-pbenzoquinonediimine to a model peptide by electrospray ionization tandem mass spectrometry. *Bioorganic* & *Medicinal Chemistry* **16**, 5482-5489.
- Eilstein J, Giménez-Arnau E, Duché D, Rousset F & Lepoittevin J-P (2006). Synthesis and Reactivity Toward Nucleophilic Amino Acids of 2,5-[13C]-Dimethyl-p-benzoquinonediimine. *Chemical Research in Toxicology* 19, 1248-1256.
- Eilstein J, Giménez-Arnau E, Duché D, Rousset F & Lepoittevin J-P (2007). Mechanistic Studies on the Lysine-Induced N-Formylation of 2,5-Dimethyl-p-benzoquinonediimine. *Chemical Research in Toxicology* 20, 1155-1161.
- Enoch SJ, Madden JC & Cronin MTD (2008). Identification of mechanisms of toxic action for skin sensitisation using a SMARTS pattern based approach. SAR and QSAR in Environmental Research 19, 555-578.
- Epstein J, Rosenthal RW & Ess RJ (1955). Use of gamma-(4-nitrobenzyl)pyridine as analytical reagent for ethylenimines and alkylating agents. *Analytical Chemistry* **27**, 1435-1439.
- Fleischel O, Gimenez-Amau E & Lepoittevin JP (2009). Nuclear Magnetic Resonance Studies on Covalent Modification of Amino Acids Thiol and Amino Residues by Monofunctional Aryl C-13-Isocyanates, Models of Skin and Respiratory Sensitizers: Transformation of Thiocarbamates into Urea Adducts. *Chemical Research in Toxicology* 22, 1106-1115.
- Franot C, Roberts DW, Basketter DA, Benezra C & Lepoittevin J-P (1994). Structure-Activity Relationships for Contact Allergenic Potential of gamma,gamma-Dimethyl-gamma-butyrolactone Derivatives. 2. Quantitative Structure-Skin Sensitization Relationships for alpha-Substituted-alpha-methyl-gamma,gamma-dimethylgamma-butyrolactones. *Chemical Research in Toxicology* 7, 307-312.
- Franot C, Roberts DW, Smith RG, Basketter DA, Benezra C & Lepoittevin J-P (1994). Structure-Activity Relationships for Contact Allergenic Potential of gamma,gamma-Dimethyl-gamma-butyrolactone Derivatives. 1. Synthesis and Electrophilic Reactivity Studies of alpha-(omega-Substituted-alkyl)gamma,gamma-dimethyl-gamma-butyrolactones and Correlation of Skin Sensitization Potential and Cross-Sensitization Patterns with Structure. *Chemical Research in Toxicology* 7, 297-306.
- Freidig AP & Hermens JLM (2001). Narcosis and chemical reactivity QSARs for acute fish toxicity. *Quantitative Structure-Activity Relationships* **19**, 547-553.
- Freidig AP, Verhaar HJM & Hermens JLM (1999). Quantitative structure-property relationships for the chemical reactivity of acrylates and methacrylates. *Environmental Toxicology and Chemistry* **18**, 1133-1139.
- Fujisawa S & Kadoma Y (2009). Prediction of the reduced glutathione (GSH) reactivity of dental methacrylate monomers using NMR spectra - Relationship between toxicity and GSH reactivity. *Dental Materials Journal* 28, 722-729.
- Gad SC, Dunn BJ, Dobbs DW, Reilly C & Walsh RD (1986). Development and validation of an alternative dermal sensitization test the Mouse Ear Swelling Test (MEST). *Toxicology and Applied Pharmacology* **84**, 93-114.
- Gagan EM, Hull MW, Schultz TW, Poech G & Dawson DA (2007). Time dependence in mixture toxicity with soft electrophiles: 1. Combined effects of selected S(N)2-and SNAr-reactive agents with a nonpolar narcotic. *Archives of Environmental Contamination and Toxicology* **52**, 283-293.
- Gerberick F, Aleksic M, Basketter D, Casati S, Karlberg AT, Kern P, Kimber I, Lepoittevin JP, Natsch A, Ovigne JM, Rovida C, Sakaguchi H & Schultz T (2008). Chemical reactivity measurement and the predictive identification of skin sensitisers. *Atla-Alternatives to Laboratory Animals* **36**, 215-242.
- Gerberick GF, Ryan CA, Kern PS, Schlatter H, Dearman RJ, Kimber I, Patlewicz GY & Basketter DA (2005). Compilation of historical local lymph node data for evaluation of skin sensitization alternative methods. *Dermatitis* **16**, 157-202.
- Gerberick GF, Vassallo JD, Bailey RE, Chaney JG, Morrall SW & Lepoittevin JP (2004). Development of a peptide reactivity assay for screening contact allergens. *Toxicological Sciences* **81**, 332-343.

- Gerberick GF, Vassallo JD, Foertsch LM, Price BB, Chaney JG & Lepoittevin JP (2007). Quantification of chemical peptide reactivity for screening contact allergens: A classification tree lmodel approach. *Toxicological Sciences* **97**, 417-427.
- Gottlieb AB (2005). Psoriasis: Emerging therapeutic strategies. Nature Reviews Drug Discovery 4, 19-34.
- Hammett LP (1937). The Effect of Structure upon the Reactions of Organic Compounds. Benzene Derivatives. *Journal of the American Chemical Society* **59**, 96-103.
- Han J & Kamber M (2001). Data Mining: Concepts and Techniques. San Francisco, CA
- Harder A, Escher BI & Schwarzenbach RP (2003). Applicability and limitation of QSARs for the toxicity of electrophilic chemicals. *Environmental Science & Technology* **37**, 4955-4961.
- Hemminki K & Falck K (1979). Correlation of mutagenicity and 4-(p-nitrobenzyl)-pyridine alkylation by epoxides. *Toxicology Letters* **4**, 103-106.
- Hemminki K, Falck K & Linnainmaa K (1983a). Reactivity, SCE induction and mutagenicity of benzyl chloride derivatives. *Journal of Applied Toxicology* **3**, 203-207.
- Hemminki K, Falck K & Vainio H (1980). All oxygens in nucleic-acids react with carcinogenic ethylating agents
- Hemminki K, Kallama S & Falck K (1983b). Correlations of alkylating activity and mutagenicity in bacteria of cytostatic drugs. *Acta Pharmacologica Et Toxicologica* **53**, 421-428.
- Hermens J, Busser F, Leeuwanch P & Musch A (1985). Quantitative correlation studies between the acute lethal toxicity of 15 organic halides to the guppy (Poecilla reticulata) and chemical-reactivity towards 4-nitrobenzylpyridine. *Toxicological and Environmental Chemistry* **9**, 219-236.
- Hermens J, DeBruijn J, Pauly J & Seinen W (1987). QSAR studies for fish toxicity data of organophosphorus compounds and other classes of reactive organic compounds. In QSAR in Environmental Toxicology-II, KLE, K., Ed. D. Reidel: Dordrecht, The Netherlands, pp 135-152.
- Jenkinson C, Jenkins RE, Maggs JL, Kitteringham NR, Aleksic M, Park BK & Naisbitt DJ (2009). A Mechanistic Investigation into the Irreversible Protein Binding and Antigenicity of p-Phenylenediamine. *Chemical Research in Toxicology* 22, 1172-1180.
- Jowsey IR, Basketter DA, Westmoreland C & Kimber I (2006). A future approach to measuring relative skin sensitising potency: a proposal. *Journal of Applied Toxicology* **26**, 341-350.
- Karlberg AT, Bergstrom MA, Borje A, Luthman K & Nilsson JLG (2008). Allergic contact dermatitisformation, structural requirements, and reactivity of skin sensitizers. *Chemical Research in Toxicology* 21, 53-69.
- Kay WW & Murfitt KC (1966). The determination of blood glutathione. Biochemical Journal, 203-208.
- Kimber I & Basketter DA (1992). The murine Local Lymph-Node Assay A commentary on collaborative studies and new directions. *Food and Chemical Toxicology* **30**, 165-169.
- Kimber I, Basketter DA & Dearman RJ (2010). Chemical allergens--What are the issues? *Toxicology* **268**, 139-142.
- Landsteiner K & Jacobs J (1936). Studies on the sensitisation of animals with simple chemical compounds. *Journal of Experimental Medicine* **64**, 625-639.
- LeBlanc A, Shiao TC, Roy R & Sleno L (2010). Improved detection of reactive metabolites with a brominecontaining glutathione analog using mass defect and isotope pattern matching. *Rapid Communications in Mass Spectrometry* **24**, 1241-1250.
- Lepoittevin J-P. 2006. In *Contact Dermatitis*, ed. PJ Frosch, T Menné,&J-P Lepoittevin, pp. 45-68. Berlin Heidelberg: Springer
- Lepoittevin J-P, Basketter D, Dooms-Goossens A & Karlberg A-T (1997). Allergic Contact Dermatitis; The Molecular Basis. Heidelberg: Springer-Verlag

- Liberato DJ, Byers VS, Dennick RG & Castagnoli N (1981). Regiospecific attack of nitrogen and sulfur nucleophiles on quinones derived from poison oak-ivy catechols (urushiols) and analogs as models for urushiol-protein conjugate formation. *Journal of Medicinal Chemistry* **24**, 28-33.
- Lipnick RL (1991). Outliers: their origin and use in the classification of molecular mechanisms of toxicity. *The Science of the Total Environment* **109-110**, 131-153.
- Ma X & Chan ECY (2010). Fluorescence-Based Liver Microsomal Assay for Screening of Pharmaceutical Reactive Metabolites Using a Glutathione Conjugated 96-Well Plate. *Bioconjugate Chemistry* **21**, 46-55.
- Martin RB (2006). Metal Ion Toxicity. In *Encyclopedia of Inorganic Chemistry*, ed. RH Crabtree: John Wiley & Sons, Ltd
- McCarthy TJ, Hayes EP, Schwartz CS & Witz G (1994). The Reactivity of Selected Acrylate Esters toward Glutathione and Deoxyribonucleosides in Vitro: Structure-Activity Relationships. *Fundamental and applied toxicology* **22**, 543-548.
- Meschkat E, Barratt MD & Lepoittevin JP (2001). Studies of the chemical selectivity of hapten, reactivity, and skin sensitization potency. 1. Synthesis and studies on the reactivity toward model nucleophiles of the C-13-labeled skin sensitizers hex-1-ene- and hexane-1,3-sultones. *Chemical Research in Toxicology* **14**, 110-117.
- Meschkat E, Barratt MD & Lepoittevin JP (2001). Studies of the chemical selectivity of hapten, reactivity, and skin sensitization potency. 2. NMR studies of the covalent binding of the C-13-labeled skin sensitizers 2- C-13 - and 3- C-13 hex-1-ene- and 3- C-13 hexane-1,3-sultones to human serum albumin. *Chemical Research in Toxicology* 14, 118-126.
- Müller M, Birner G & Dekant W (1998). Reactivity of haloketenes and halothioketenes with nucleobases: Chemical characterization of reaction products. *Chemical Research in Toxicology* **11**, 454-463.
- Mutschler J, Gimenez-Arnau E, Foertsch L, Gerberick GF & Lepoittevin J-P (2009). Mechanistic assessment of peptide reactivity assay to predict skin allergens with Kathon CG isothiazolinones. *Toxicology in Vitro* 23, 439-446.
- Natsch A & Emter R (2008). Skin Sensitizers Induce Antioxidant Response Element Dependent Genes: Application to the In Vitro Testing of the Sensitization Potential of Chemicals. *Toxicological Sciences* **102**, 110-119.
- Natsch A, Emter R & Ellis G (2009). Filling the Concept with Data: Integrating Data from Different In Vitro and In Silico Assays on Skin Sensitizers to Explore the Battery Approach for Animal-Free Skin Sensitization Testing. *Toxicological Sciences* **107**, 106-121.
- Natsch A & Gfeller H (2008). LC-MS-Based Characterization of the Peptide Reactivity of Chemicals to Improve the In Vitro Prediction of the Skin Sensitization Potential. *Toxicological Sciences* **106**, 464-478.
- Natsch A, Gfeller H, Rothaupt M & Ellis G (2007). Utility and limitations of a peptide reactivity assay to predict fragrance allergens in vitro. *Toxicology in Vitro* **21**, 1220-1226.
- Nendza M & Wenzel A (2006). Discriminating toxicant classes by mode of action 1. (Eco)toxicity profiles. *Environmental Science and Pollution Research* **13**, 192-203.
- Netzeva TI, Worth AP, Aldenberg T, Benigni R, Cronin MTD, Gramatica P, Jaworska JS, Kahn S, Klopman G, Marchant CA, Myatt G, Nikolova-Jeliazkova N, Patlewicz GY, Perkins R, Roberts DW, Schultz TW, Stanton DT, van de Sandt JJM, Tong WD, Veith G & Yang CH (2005). Current status of methods for defining the applicability domain of (quantitative) structure-activity relationships. The report and recommendations of ECVAM Workshop 52. *Alternatives to Laboratory Animals* 33, 155-173.
- Neudecker T, Lutz D, Eder E & Henschler D (1980). Structure-activity relationship in halogen and alkyl substituted allyl and allylic compounds: Correlation of alkylating and mutagenic properties. *Biochemical Pharmacology* **29**, 2611-2617.
- Nguyen B, Tanious FA & Wilson WD (2007). Biosensor-surface plasmon resonance: Quantitative analysis of small molecule-nucleic acid interactions. *Methods* **42**, 150-161.
- Niklasson IB, Broo K, Jonsson C, Luthman K & Karlberg AT (2009). Reduced Sensitizing Capacity of Epoxy Resin Systems: A Structure-Activity Relationship Study. *Chemical Research in Toxicology* **22**, 1787-1794.

- Nilsson AM, Bergstrom MA, Luthman K, Nilsson JLG & Karlberg AT (2005). A conjugated diene identified as a prohapten: Contact allergenic activity and chemical reactivity of proposed epoxide metabolites. *Chemical Research in Toxicology* 18, 308-316.
- OECD (2007). Guidance Document on the Validation of (Quantitative) Structure Activity Relationship [(Q)SAR] Models. OECD Series on Testing and Assessment No. 69. ENV/JM/MONO(2007)2. Organisation for Economic Cooperation and Development, Paris, France. Available at: <u>http://www.oecd.org/</u>
- Osamura H, Urayama I, Takeuchi Y, Itoh M, Nogami T & Ishihara M (1981). In vitro tests for predicting the possibility of chemical allergenicity. *Japanese Journal of Dermatology* **91**, 1502-1514.
- Patlewicz G, Aptula AO, Uriarte E, Roberts DW, Kern PS, Gerberick GF, Kimber I, Dearman RJ, Ryan CA & Basketter DA (2007). An evaluation of selected global (Q) SARs/expert systems for the prediction of skin sensitisation potential. SAR and QSAR in Environmental Research 18, 515-541.
- Patlewicz G, Roberts David W & Walker John D (2003). QSARs for the skin sensitization potential of aldehydes and related compounds. *QSAR & Combinatorial Science* 22, 196-203.
- Patlewicz G & Worth A (2008). Review of Data Sources, QSARs and Integrated Testing Strategies for Skin Sensitisation. JRC Report EUR 23225 EN. Luxembourg: Publications Office of the European Union. Available at: <u>http://publications.jrc.ec.europa.eu/repository/</u>
- Pepys, J. Autoantibodies induced by extrinsic, low molecular-weight chemical allergens In Proceedings of the XII international congress of allergology and clinical immunology, Washington, DC, St. Louis, MO, CE, R., Ed. CV Mosby Company: Washington, DC, St. Louis, MO, 1986; pp 204-207.
- Purdy R (1991). The utility of computed superdelocalizability for predicting the LC50 values of epoxides to guppies. *The Science of the Total Environment* **109-110**, 553-556.
- Razmiafshari M, Kao J, d'Avignon A & Zawia NH (2001). NMR identification of heavy metal-binding sites in a synthetic zinc finger peptide: Toxicological implications for the interactions of xenobiotic metals with zinc finger proteins. *Toxicology and Applied Pharmacology* **172**, 1-10.
- Razmiafshari M & Zawia NH (2000). Utilization of a synthetic peptide as a tool to study the interaction of heavy metals with the zinc finger domain of proteins critical for gene expression in the developing brain. *Toxicology and Applied Pharmacology* **166**, 1-12.
- Roberts DW (1987). Structure-Activity-Relationships for skin sensitization potential of diacrylates and dimethacrylates. *Contact Dermatitis* **17**, 281-289.
- Roberts DW (1995). Linear Free-Energy Relationships for reactions of electrophilic halobenzenes and pseudohalobenzenes, and their application in prediction of skin sensitization potential for  $S_NAr$  electrophiles. *Chemical Research in Toxicology* **8**, 545-551.
- Roberts DW & Aptula AO (2008). Determinants of skin sensitisation potential. *Journal of Applied Toxicology* **28**, 377-387.
- Roberts DW, Aptula AO & Patlewicz G (2006). Mechanistic applicability domains for non-animal based prediction of toxicological endpoints. QSAR analysis of the Schiff base applicability domain for skin sensitization. *Chemical Research in Toxicology* **19**, 1228-1233.
- Roberts DW, Aptula AO & Patlewicz G (2007a). Electrophilic chemistry related to skin sensitization. Reaction mechanistic applicability domain classification for a published data set of 106 chemicals tested in the mouse local lymph node assay. *Chemical Research in Toxicology* **20**, 44-60.
- Roberts DW, Aptula AO, Patlewicz G & Pease C (2008). Chemical reactivity indices and mechanism-based read-across for non-animal based assessment of skin sensitisation potential. *Journal of Applied Toxicology* **28**, 443-454.
- Roberts DW & Basketter DA (1990). A quantitative structure activity dose-response relationship for contact allergic potential of alkyl group transfer agents. *Contact Dermatitis* **23**, 331-335.
- Roberts DW & Basketter DA (1997). Further evaluation of the quantitative structure-activity relationship for skin-sensitizing alkyl transfer agents. *Contact Dermatitis* **37**, 107-112.
- Roberts DW & Basketter DA (2000). Quantitative structure-activity relationships: sulfonate esters in the local lymph node assay. *Contact Dermatitis* **42**, 154-161.

- Roberts DW & Benezra C (1993). Quantitative Structure-Activity-Relationships for skin sensitization potential of urushiol analogs. *Contact Dermatitis* **29**, 78-83.
- Roberts DW, Fraginals R, Lepoittevin JP & Benezra C (1991). Refinement of the relative alkylation index (RAI) model for skin sensitization and application to mouse and guinea-pig test data for alkyl alkanesulphonates. *Archives of Dermatological Research* **283**, 387-394.
- Roberts DW & Natsch A (2009). High Throughput Kinetic Profiling Approach for Covalent Binding to Peptides: Application to Skin Sensitization Potency of Michael Acceptor Electrophiles. *Chemical Research in Toxicology* 22, 592-603.
- Roberts DW & Patlewicz G (2002). Mechanism based structure-activity relationships for skin sensitisation -The carbonyl group domain. *SAR and QSAR in Environmental Research* **13**, 145-152.
- Roberts DW, Patlewicz G, Kern PS, Gerberick F, Kimber I, Dearman RJ, Ryan CA, Basketter DA & Aptula AO (2007b). Mechanistic applicability domain classification of a local lymph node assay dataset for skin sensitization. *Chemical Research in Toxicology* 20, 1019-1030.
- Roberts DW & Patlewicz GY (2010). Updating the Skin Sensitization in Vitro Data Assessment Paradigm in 2009-a chemistry and QSAR perspective. *Journal of Applied Toxicology* **30**, 286-288.
- Roberts DW, Schultz TW, Wolf EM & Aptula AO (2009). Experimental Reactivity Parameters for Toxicity Modeling: Application to the Acute Aquatic Toxicity of SN2 Electrophiles to Tetrahymena pyriformis. *Chemical Research in Toxicology* 23, 228-234.
- Roberts DW & Williams DL (1982). The derivation of quantitative correlations between skin sensitization and physio-chemical parameters for alkylating-agents, and their application to experimental-data for sultones. *Journal of Theoretical Biology* **99**, 807-825.
- Roberts DW, Williams DL & Bethell D (2007c). Electrophilic reactions of skin-sensitizing sultones. Chemical Research in Toxicology 20, 61-71.
- Roberts DW, York M & Basketter DA (1999). Structure-activity relationships in the murine local lymph node assay for skin sensitization: alpha,beta-diketones. *Contact Dermatitis* **41**, 14-17.
- Roggen E, Aufderheide M, Cetin Y, Dearman RJ, Gibbs S, Hermanns I, Kirnber I, Regal JF, Rovida C, Warheit DB, Uhlig S & Casati S (2008). The Development of Novel Approaches to the Identification of Chemical and Protein Respiratory Allergens. *Alternatives to Laboratory Animals* 36, 591-598.
- Rothe H, Sarlo K, Gerberick F, Foertsch LM, Dearman RJ & Kimber I (2008). Evaluation of respiratory chemical allergens in the peptide reactivity assay. *The Toxicologist* **102**, 296.
- Saint-Mezard P, Rosieres A, Krasteva M, Berard F, Dubois B, Kaiserlian D & Nicolas JF (2004). Allergic contact dermatitis. *European Journal of Dermatology* **14**, 284-295.
- Schmidt TJ, Ak M & Mrowietz U (2007). Reactivity of dimethyl fumarate and methylhydrogen fumarate towards glutathione and N-acetyl-L-cysteine - Preparation of S-substituted thiosuccinic acid esters. *Bioorganic & Medicinal Chemistry* 15, 333-342.
- Schultz T & Netzeva TI (2004). Development and evaluation of QSARs for ecotoxic endpoints: The benzene response-surface model for Tetrahymena toxicity. In *Modelling environmental fate and toxicity*, Cronin M & Livingston D, Eds. CRC Press: Boca Raton, FL, 2004; pp 265-284.
- Schultz T, Yarbrough J & Koss S (2006). Identification of reactive toxicants: Structure–activity relationships for amides. *Cell Biology and Toxicology* **22**, 339-349.
- Schultz TW (1997). Tetratox: Tetrahymena pyriformis population growth impairment endpoint A surrogate for fish lethality. *Toxicology Methods* **7**, 289-309.
- Schultz TW, Carlson RE, Cronin MTD, Hermens JLM, Johnson R, O'Brien PJ, Roberts DW, Siraki A, Wallace KB & Veith GD (2006). A conceptual framework for predicting the toxicity of reactive chemicals: modeling soft electrophilicity. SAR and QSAR in Environmental Research 17, 413 428.
- Schultz TW, Ralston KE, Roberts DW, Veith GD & Aptula AO (2007). Structure–activity relationships for abiotic thiol reactivity and aquatic toxicity of halo-substituted carbonyl compounds. *SAR and QSAR in Environmental Research* **18**, 21 29.

- Schultz TW, Rogers K & Aptula AO (2009). Read-across to rank skin sensitization potential: subcategories for the Michael acceptor domain. *Contact Dermatitis* **60**, 21-31.
- Schultz TW, Yarbrough JW, Hunter RS & Aptula AO (2007). Verification of the structural alerts for Michael acceptors. *Chemical Research in Toxicology* **20**, 1359-1363.
- Schultz TW, Yarbrough JW & Johnson EL (2005a). Structure-activity relationships for reactivity of carbonylcontaining compounds with glutathione. *SAR and QSAR in Environmental Research* **16**, 313-322.
- Schultz TW, Yarbrough JW & Woldemeskel M (2005b). Toxicity to Tetrahymena and abiotic thiol reactivity of aromatic isothiocyanates. *Cell Biology and Toxicology* **21**, 181-189.
- Schwöbel JAH, Madden JC & Cronin MTD (2010). Examination of Michael addition reactivity towards glutathione by transition-state calculations. *SAR and QSAR in Environmental Research* **21**, 693 710
- Sekine M & Unno T (1988). The binding activity of phenol compounds and monodansylcadaverine. *Japanese Journal of Dermatology* **98**, 513-519.
- Singer B (1976). All oxygens in nucleic-acids react with carcinogenic ethylating agents. Nature 264, 333-339.
- Taft RW (1956). Steric Effects in Organic Chemistry. New York: Wiley
- Tanii H & Hashimoto K (1982). Structure-toxicity relationship of acrylates and methacrylates. *Toxicology Letters* **11**, 125-129.
- Tse C & Pesce A (1979). Chemical characterization of isocyanate-protein conjugates. *Toxicol Appl Pharmacol* **51**, 39-46.
- Vandebriel R & van Loveren H (2010). Non-animal sensitization testing: State-of-the-art. *Critical Reviews in Toxicology* **40**, 389-404.
- Van der Aar EM, DeGroot MJ, Bijloo GJ, VanderGoot H & Vermeulen NPE (1996). Structure-activity relationships for the glutathione conjugation of 2-substituted 1-chloro-4-nitrobenzenes by rat glutathione S-transferase 4-4. *Chemical Research in Toxicology* **9**, 527-534.
- Veith GD (2004). On the nature, evolution and future of quantitative structure-activity relationships (QSAR) in toxicology. SAR and QSAR in Environmental Research 15, 323-330.
- Verhaar HJM, Rorije E, Borkent H, Seinen W & Hermens JLM (1996). Modeling the nucleophilic reactivity of small organochlorine electrophiles: A mechanistically based quantitative structure-activity relationship. *Environmental Toxicology and Chemistry* 15, 1011-1018.
- Vonk JA, Benigni R, Hewitt M, Nendza M, Segner H, van de Meent D & Cronin MTD (2009). The Use of Mechanisms and Modes of Toxic Action in Integrated Testing Strategies: The Report and Recommendations of a Workshop held as part of the European Union OSIRIS Integrated Project. *Alternatives to Laboratory Animals* 37, 557-571.
- Wang XJ, Hayes JD & Wolf CR (2006). Generation of a Stable Antioxidant Response Element–Driven Reporter Gene Cell Line and Its Use to Show Redox-Dependent Activation of Nrf2 by Cancer Chemotherapeutic Agents. *Cancer Research* 66, 10983-10994.
- Wass U & Belin L (1990). An in vitro method for predicting sensitizing properties of inhaled chemicals. Scandinavian Journal of Work Environment & Health 16, 208-214.
- Wenzel A, Nendza M, Hartmann P & Kanne R (1997). Testbattery for the assessment of aquatic toxicity. *Chemosphere* **35**, 307-322.
- Yarbrough JW & Schultz TW (2007). Abiotic sulfhydryl reactivity: A predictor of aquatic toxicity for carbonylcontaining alpha,beta-unsaturated compounds. *Chemical Research in Toxicology* **20**, 558-562.

# 8. Appendix 1. List of *in chemico* studies reviewed

Citation	Endpoint	Nucleophiles used	Electrophiles studied	QSAR equations	Descriptors	Other information
Franot et al., 1994a	Skin sensitisation	n-butylamine	Butyrolactones	Biological Response= $a(RAI_i) - b(RAI_i)^2 + c(RAI_c) + d$ Sulfonates probit (% response)= 2.24(RAI_i) -0.26(RAI_i)^2 + 0.54(RAI_c)-2.23 Lactones probit (% response)= 2.85(RAI_i) -0.24(RAI_i)^2 + 0.82(RAI_c)-3.12	Krel, logP, Dose	They also checked the Relative Elicitation Potential, to analyse the cross reactivity potential of chemicals.
Deneer et al., 1988a	Aquatic toxicity (Poecilia Reticulata)	Cysteine	Aldehydes	-log(LC <sub>50</sub> )=(0.36±0.04)log P- 2.54 -log(LC <sub>50</sub> )=(0.36±0.04)log P - 2.54 -(0.08±0.05)log(Kcys) - 2.32	Log P and Kcys	Inclusion of $K_{Cys}$ did not improve the QSARs
Deneer et al., 1988b	Aquatic toxicity (Poecilia Reticulata)	NBP	Epoxides	$-log(LC_{50}) = (0.39 \pm 0.05)logP + (3.0 \pm 0.04)log(K_{NBP})$	log P and log $K_{\text{NBP}}$	
Verhaar et al., 1996	Aquatic toxicity (Poecilia Reticulata)	NBP	Organic halides	Various QSARs. Theoretical LC <sub>50</sub> predictions were: log LC <sub>50</sub> =(-0.51)log Kow - (0.97)log $k_{NBP}$ - 1.80 [n=12, $r^2$ =0.63, Q2=0.39] log LC <sub>50</sub> =(-0.61)log Kow - (0.80)log $k_{NBP}$ - 1.13 [n=5, $r^2$ =0.94, Q2=-2.70]	$\begin{array}{c} Log \; K_{o/w} \mbox{ theoretical} \\ and experimental, \\ and \; log K_{NBP} \\ theoretical \; and \\ experimental. \end{array}$	Theoretical results very similar to the ones obtained with experimental descriptors.
Freidig et al., 1999	Aquatic toxicity	GSH, H <sub>2</sub> O and OH	Acrylates and methacrylates	Hydrolysis of methacrylates (reaction with respect to methyl methacrylate ( $K_{Bmethyl}$ ) log( $K_B/K_{Bmethyl}$ )=1.25(±0.25) $\sigma^*$ - (0.18±0.09) Rx with GS <sup>-</sup> (reduced GSH): log $K_{GSH}$ = +2.65 $C_\beta$ -1.37 qC $\alpha$ +3.39q $C_1$ -49.33 $E_{LUMO}$	Hydrolysis: Taft constants ( $\sigma^*$ and E(s)),E(s) does not improve correlation. GSH: Charge densities (q(C <sub>i</sub> )) of C in acidic part of molecule, E <sub>LUMO</sub> of electrophiles,	QSPR to reproduce experimental reaction rates

Citation	Endpoint	Nucleophiles used	Electrophiles studied	QSAR equations	Descriptors	Other information
Hermens et al., 1987	Aquatic toxicity (Guppy)	NBP	Organophosphorus	$Log(1/LC_{50}) = -1.30log(1604 + 1/K_{NBF}) + 4.35$ [n=15, r <sup>2</sup> =0.88, s=0.44] $log\left(\frac{1}{LC_{50}}\right) = 0.23(\pm 0.08)\sum \pi + 0.80(\pm 0.12)log(K_{NBF}) + 2.77$ [n=9, r <sup>2</sup> =0.92, s=0.19]	Hammet <u>t</u> ( $\sigma$ , $\sigma^{-}$ ) constants LogK <sub>NBP</sub> , Hydrophobicity ( $\pi$ )	One of the first studies to predict fish toxicity with $K_{\text{NBP}}$
Purdy, 1991	Aquatic toxicity	NBP	Epoxides	$logK_{NBP} = 34.9S^{N}C_{1}^{A} + 1.67S^{N}C_{1}^{B} - 5.11$ [r <sup>2</sup> =0.91, n=12, s=0.074] logLC <sub>50</sub> = -0.36 log P + 119S^{N}C_{1}^{A} - 2.7S^{N}C_{1}^{B} + 13.5 [r <sup>2</sup> =0.90, n=12, s=0.24]	Superdelocalizability (S <sup>N</sup> ), logP	Experimental data taken from Deneer et al 1988b.
Van der Aar et al., 1996	GSH reactivity	GSH and MeS	1-chloro-4-nitrobenzenes	$ \begin{array}{l} \text{Based Catalyzed reaction} \\ \text{logKs=}4.58{\pm}(0.47) \ \sigma_{p}-5.26({\pm}0.23 \ [n=8, r^{2}{=}0.90, s=}0.233] \\ \\ \text{GST 4,4-catalyzed reaction} \\ \text{log} \ k_{\text{cat}}{=}2.42({\pm}0.99) \ \sigma_{p} \ - 0.20({\pm}0.49) \\ [r=0.705, s=0.499, n=8] \\ \text{log} \ k_{\text{cat}}/K_{\text{m}}{=}3.23({\pm}0.72) \ \sigma_{p} \ - 3.01({\pm}0.35) \\ [r=0.877, s=0.362, n=8] \\ \\ \text{Hammett constant split into F and R} \\ \text{Based Catalyzed reaction} \\ \text{logKs=}3.82{\pm}(0.47)F + 12.26{\pm}(1.33)(\text{C1 charge}) \ - 7.38({\pm}0.29) \ [n=8, r^{2}{=}0.989, s=0.155] \\ \\ \text{GST 4,4-catalyzed reaction} \\ \text{logK}_{\text{cat}}/K_{\text{m}}{=}3.61{\pm}(0.94)F + 6.46{\pm}(2.67)(\text{C1 charge}) \ - 4.42({\pm}0.58) \\ [n=8, r^{2}{=}0.927, s=0.310] \\ \end{array} $	Hammet <u>t</u> constatns $\sigma_p$ , F and R (inductive and resonance), charge,	
Harder et al., 2003	Hepatotoxicity	GSH and 2'- deoxyguanosine	reactive organochlorines, epoxides, and compounds with an activated double bond: acrolein, isobutyl acrylate, 2- hydroxyethyl acrylate, ethylacrylate, acrylonitrile, acryl amide, benzyl chloride, 4-nitrobenzyl chloride, 2,3- dichloro-1-propene, trans-1,4-dichloro-2- butene, styrene oxide, 2-(4-nitro- phenyl)oxirane, (2,3- epoxypropyl)benzene, 1,2-epoxybutane, epichlorohydrin, 2-methyl- 2-vinyloxirane	$\begin{split} \log & \text{EC}_{50} Ecoli = -0.87 (\pm 0.04) x \log(K_{GSH}) + 1.60 (\pm 0.08) \\ & \text{[n=6, r^2=0.99, F=440]} \\ & \log & \text{EC}_{50} Ecoli = -1.34 (\pm 0.18) x \log(K_{gua}) - 2.43 (\pm 0.40) \\ & \text{[n=6, r^2=0.93, F=52]} \end{split}$	$logK_{GSH}$ and $logK_{gua}$	QSARs for hepatotixicity according to mode of action. Small applicability domains.

Citation	Endpoint	Nucleophiles used	Electrophiles studied	QSAR equations	Descriptors	Other information
Aptula et al., 2005	Skin sensitisation	Propanethiolate, n- butylamine,	5-Chloro-2-methylisothiazol-3-one (MCI), 2-methylisothiazol-3-one (MI)	$AEI = \Delta E_{HOMO-1} + \Delta E_{HOMO}$	$E_{Homo}$ and $E_{Homo-1}$	Theoretical explanation of the reactivity of the two molecules. A model is provided. It uses molecular energies of reactants. The Activation Energy Index is only valid if the TS of the reaction is similar to reactants.
Schultz, et al., 2005b	Aquatic toxicity (Tetrahymena pyriformis)	GSH	Series of substituted isothiocyanates (only subsitutents specified) Phenyl, 2,6-Dimethylphenyl, 3,5- Dimethylphenyl, 4-Butylphenyl, Naphthyl, 5-Indanyl, 1,4-Phenylene, Benzyl, •-Methylbenzyl, •-Phenylbenzyl, 2-Phenylethyl, 3- Phenylpropyl, 1-Naphthalenemethyl, Benzoyl, Cinnamyl.	$\log\left(\frac{1}{IGC50}\right) = 1.77 \left(\log\frac{1}{EC_{50}}\right) + 0.60$ n=12, r <sup>2</sup> =0.718, s=0.34, F=26, q <sup>2</sup> =0.629	GSH EC <sub>50</sub>	A model to predict toxicity to Tetrahymena pyriformis only using GSH reactivity as descriptor. It offers a modest performance $(r^2=0.718)$ .
Aptula et al., 2005a	Aquatic toxicity (Tetrahymena pyriformis)	n-butylamine (theoretical)	3-methylcatechol, 4-methylcatechol, catechol, 4-chlorocatechol, 4- nitrocatechol, 2,3- dihydroxybenzaldehyde, 1,2,3- trihydroxybenzene, 1,2,4- trihydroxybenzene, hydroquinone, chlorohydroquinone, bromohydroquinone, tetrachlorohydroquinone, tetrafluorohydroquinone, phenylhydroquinone, 2,5- dihydroxybenzaldehyde, 2,5- dichlorohydroquinone, tetrachlorocatechol, 2-nitroresorcinol	pIGC <sub>50</sub> (adj)=-049(±0.06)AEI+6.85(±0.69) n=18, r <sup>2</sup> =0.821, q <sup>2</sup> =0.774, s=0.24, F=73	AEI (activation energy índex)	The study relates toxicity towards Tetrahymena pyriformis of a series of polysubstituted hydroxybenzenes. Two domains were found, consisting of polar narcotics and pro- Michael acceptors. A QSAR with a single descriptor (log D and AEI) was developed for each group. In both cases the models showed a good performance, and the toxic effects as well as the outliers were explained by mechanistic organic chemistry principles.

Citation	Endpoint	Nucleophiles used	Electrophiles studied	QSAR equations	Descriptors	Other information
Aptula et al., 2006b	Skin sensitisation	GSH	p-Benzoquinone, 2-Hydroxyethyl acrylate, Cinnamic aldehyde, Benzylidene acetone, a-Hexyl cinnamic aldehyde, Coumarin, 2-Hydroxypropyl methylacrylate, 1,4-Hydroquinone, p- Phenylenediamine, 3-Methyl catechol, Isoeugenol, Eugenol, 1-Chloro-2,4- dinitrobenzene, 2,4-Dichloro-1- nitrobenzene, b-Propiolactone, Oxazolone, 3-Propylidenephthalide, Dihydrocoumarin, Trimellitic anhydride, Phthalic anhydride, Citral, p- Aminobenzoic acid, Cinnamic acid, Sodium lauryl	Not really a QSAR. The model states that if a compounds exhibits a GSH pEC <sub>50</sub> >-0.55 it is likely to be a sensitiser. If combined with TETRATOX, pIGC <sub>50TETRATOX</sub> – pIGC <sub>50narcosis</sub> >0.50 determines skin sensitiser	pEC <sub>50</sub> , pIGC <sub>50TETRATOX</sub> and logP (for calculation of pIGC <sub>50narcosis</sub> )	An <i>in vitro</i> prediction method for skin sensitisation is provided. It includes GSH reactivity (thiol reactivity) and TETRATOX assays. The method is capable of predicting 23 out of 24 compounds correctly.
Chan et al., 2008	Hepatotoxicity	GSH	p-benzoquionones: chloroanil, 2,5- dichloro-benzoquinone, 2-bromo- benzoquinone, 2-tert butyl- benzoquinone, 2-methyl-benzoquinone, p-benzoquinone, 2,6-dimethyl- benzoquinone, 2,6-dimethoxy- benzoquinone, 2,3,5-trimethyl- benzoquinone, 2,3,5,6-tetramethyl- benzoquinone	GSH reactivity: $log k_{GSH} = -18.38 - 16.78E_{LUMO} - 3.19(E_{LUMO})^{2}$ n=10, r <sup>2</sup> =0.80, P=0.008 Rat hepatotoxicity: $log LC_{50} = 4.65 - 0.92 log k_{GSH}$ n=10, r <sup>2</sup> =0.82, P<0.001 $log LC_{50} = 424.54 + 17.7E_{LUMO} + 3.36(E_{LUMO})^{2}$ n=9, r <sup>2</sup> =0.90, P=0.002	E <sub>LUMO</sub> , K <sub>GSH</sub>	Good models for hepatotoxicity were obtained GSH depletion rates ( $k_{GSH}$ ) and $E_{LUMO}$ . Some other parameters such as $E_{HOMO}$ , dipole moment, nucleophilic frontier density, logP, molar refractivity, and electron reduction potential were also used to build some QSARs but poorer correlations were obtained.
Schultz et al., 2006a	Acute aquatic toxicity (Tetrahymena pyriformis)	GSH	12 Michael-type acceptors	Aquatic toxicity: $log\left(\frac{1}{IGC50}\right) = 0.975\left(log\frac{1}{EC_{50}}\right) - 0.592$ n=12, r <sup>2</sup> =0.952, s=0.24, F=221, Pr>F = 0.0001 Respiratory toxicity: $log RD_{50} = 0.598\left(log EC_{50}\right) + 1.03$ n=10, r <sup>2</sup> =0.846, s=0.31, F=44, Pr>F = 0.0001	EC <sub>50</sub>	

Citation	Endpoint	Nucleophiles used	Electrophiles studied	QSAR equations	Descriptors	Other information
Yarbrough & Schultz, 2007	Acute aquatic toxicity (Tetrahymena pyriformis)	GSH	41 Michael-type acceptors( α,β- unsaturated carbonyl compounds)	$\log\left(\frac{1}{IGC_{50}}\right) = 0.936(\pm 0.055)\left(\log\frac{1}{EC_{50}}\right) + 0.508(\pm 0.064)$ n=41, r <sup>2</sup> =0.846, s=0.35, F=214, q <sup>2</sup> =0.832	EC <sub>50</sub>	
Bohme et al., 2009	Acute aquatic toxicity (Tetrahymena pyriformis)	GSH	26 Michael acceptors compounds including 15 $\alpha$ , $\beta$ -unsaturated ketones, nine acrylates (including methacrylates and crotonates), and two propiolates	$\log EC_{50} = -0.673(\pm 0.042)\log k_{GSH} - 2.877(\pm 0.067)$ n=26, r <sup>2</sup> =0.91, q <sup>2</sup> <sub>CV</sub> =0.89, rms=0.30, rms <sub>cv</sub> =0.34, and F <sub>1,24</sub> =257	k <sub>GSH</sub>	A new chemoassay which takes into account the amount of GSH reacted by oxidation was presented. The assay allows for the determination of the reaction rate and is only applied to Michael acceptors. The results are correlated to $EC_{50}$ of Tetrahymena pyriformis with excellent results.
Fujisawa & Kadoma, 2009	Acute toxicity in mice (LD <sub>50</sub> )	GSH	methyl acrylate, ethyl acrylate, <i>n</i> -butyl acrylate, isobutyl acrylate, hexyl acrylate, 2-ethylhexyl acrylate, methyl methacrylate, ethyl methacrylate, isopropyl methacrylate, <i>n</i> -butyl methacrylate, isobutyl methacrylate, <i>t</i> - butyl methacrylate, allyl methacrylate, 2- hydroxyethyl methacrylate, benzyl methacrylate, ethylene glycol dimethacrylate, triethylene glycol dimethacrylate, and 2,2-bis[4-(2hydroxy- 3- methacryloyloxypropoxy)phenyl]propane	$\log k_{GSH} = -48.6(\pm 0.2) + 0.4(\pm 0.0)\delta_{C_{\beta}}$ n=11, r <sup>2</sup> =0.998, p<0.001 <i>LD</i> 50 = 15.1(\pm 17.3) + 37.9(\pm 10.1) log <i>P</i> - 16.4(\pm 6.7) log <i>K</i> n=8, r <sup>2</sup> =0.88, p<0.01	Chemical shift of $C_{\alpha}$ , $C_{\beta}$ , $H_{a}$ , and $H_{b}$ ( $\alpha$ , $\beta$ -unsaturated moiety), logK and logP.	The chemical shift of the $\alpha$ , $\beta$ -unsaturated moiety of a series of (meth)acrylates was used to determine reactivity against GSH with excellent correlations. However, the GSH reactivity could not be successfully correlated to acute toxicity in mice (LD <sub>50</sub> ).

Citation	Endpoint	Nucleophiles used	Electrophiles studied	QSAR equations	Descriptors	Other information
Tanii & Hashimoto, 1982	Acute toxicity in mice (LD <sub>50</sub> )	GSH	Methyl acrylate, Ethyl acrylate, n-Butyl acrylate, Isobutyl acrylate, 2- Hydroxylethyi acrylate, 2- Hydroxylpropyl acrylate, Methyl methacryiate, Ethyl methacrylate, isopropyl methacrylate, n-Butyl methacrylate, Isobutyl methacryiate, tert- Butyl methacrylate, 2-Hydroxyethyl methacrylate, 2-Hydroxypropyl methacrylate	$\log\left(\frac{1}{LD_{50}}\right) = -0.423 \log P - 0.735$ N=6, r <sup>2</sup> =-0.9909, P<0.05 $\log\left(\frac{1}{LD_{50}}\right) = 1.808 \log K - 4.092$ N=8, r <sup>2</sup> =0.889, P<0.05	logP and logK	QSARs are generated for the oral acute toxicity (LD <sub>50</sub> ) of a series of acrylates and methacrylates. A general model could not be found and logP and logK were shown to be highly dependent. Acrylates are better correlated to LD <sub>50</sub> , with the two models showing correlation coefficients above 0.88
Roberts & Natsch, 2009	Skin sensitisation	Cor1C-420	27 compounds, 14 corresponding to Michael acceptor domain. Check original study for a complete list.	$pEC3 = 0.24(\pm 0.04)\log K + 2.11(\pm 0.24)$ N=10, R <sup>2</sup> =0.836, s=0.11, and F=40.8	logK	A high throughput kinetic profiling method for the determination of depletion rates is proposed. It is applied to a series of compounds and a quantitative mechanistic model for the prediction for skin sensitisation is proposed for the Michael acceptor domain.

Citation	Endpoint	Nucleophiles used	Electrophiles studied	QSAR equations	Descriptors	Other information
Chipinda, et al., 2010	Skin sensitisation	Nitrobenzenethiol (NBT)	23 compounds including Michael acceptors, SN1/SN2 reactors, and acylating agents	Michael addition $pEC3 = 0.81(\pm 0.11)\log K_a + 2.13(\pm 0.23)$ N=10, r2=0.87, s=0.65, and F=52.3 SN1/SN2 $pEC3 = 0.85(\pm 0.09)\log K_a + 0.92(\pm 0.16)$ N=6, r <sup>2</sup> =096, s=0.20, and F=93.7 Acylating agents $pEC3 = 1.03(\pm 0.27)\log K_a + 1.69(\pm 0.27)$ N=3, r <sup>2</sup> =0.93, s=0.27, and F=14.23 Altogether $pEC3 = 0.75(\pm 0.11)\log K_a + 1.79(\pm 0.21)$ N=19, r <sup>2</sup> =0.74, s=0.71, and F=47.2	logKa	A new method for the determination of <i>in</i> <i>chemico</i> reactivity which uses Nitrobenzenethiol is presented. This method is simple and very fast. Their main advantages are its possibility to measure a wide range of reaction rates, it does not suffer from drowning out effects or test chemical evaporation problems, and that is capable of obtaining the reaction rates without the interference of side reactions.
Roberts et al., 2009	Aquatic toxicity (Tetrahymena pyriformis)	GSH	60 haloaliphatic compounds (see original study for further details)	Halides activated by electron-withdrawing groups $pIGC_{50} = 0.94(\pm 0.07)pRC_{50} + 1.34(\pm 0.07)$ n=22, r <sup>2</sup> =0.889, s=0.27, and F=161 Halides activated by electron-withdrawing groups + 9 compounds with not clear reaction mechanism $pIGC_{50} = 0.99(\pm 0.05)pRC_{50} + 1.28(\pm 0.05)$ n=31, r <sup>2</sup> =0.936, s=0.25, and F=426	pRC <sub>50</sub>	A QSAR for $S_N 2$ haloaliphatic compounds is presented. The set of compounds was grouped in reaction mechanism subdomains. GSH reactivity of halides activated by electron- withdrawing groups showed significant correlation with aquatic toxicity. However, the reactivity of halides activated by unsaturated hydrocarbon was shown to underestimate toxicity probably due to hydrolosis and evaporation.

Citation	Endpoint	Nucleophiles used	Electrophiles studied	QSAR equations	Descriptors	Other information
Hermens et al., 1985	Aquatic toxicity (guppy)	NBP	Organic halides	$\log \frac{1}{LC_{50}} = -1.30 \log \left( 1.604 - \frac{1}{K_{NBP}} \right) + 4.35$ N=15, r <sup>2</sup> =0.88, s=0.44	NBP	This was probably the first QSAR using chemical reactivity as descriptor to predict fish lethality. No correlation was observed with hydrophobicity
Hermens et al., 1987	Aquatic toxicity (guppy)	NBP	Organophosphorus	$\log \frac{1}{LC_{50}} = 0.23(\pm 0.08) \sum \pi + 0.80(\pm 0.12) \log K_{NBP} + 2.77$ N=9, r <sup>2</sup> =0.92, s=0.19	NBP, π (hydrophobicity)	The inclusion of $K_{NBP}$ into the models significantly improved the predictability. The authors recognized the utility of the NBP assay although it could only take into account $S_N$ mechanisms.

#### European Commission

EUR 24870 EN – Joint Research Centre – Institute for Health and Consumer Protection Title: The Use of Chemical Reactivity Assays in Toxicity Prediction Author(s): David Asturiol and Andrew Worth Luxembourg: Publications Office of the European Union 2011 – 38 pp. – 21 x 29.7 cm EUR – Scientific and Technical Research series – ISSN 1831-9424 (online), 1018-5593 (print) ISBN 978-92-79-20641-2 doi: 10.2788/32962

#### Abstract

The use of so-called "*in chemico*" methodology - abiotic assays that measure chemical reactivity - is gaining ground as relevant and reliable means of toxicity prediction. In this report we explain the basis of the *in chemico* approach to toxicity prediction and we review the studies that have developed the concept and its practical application since the 1930s, with special attention being paid to studies aimed at the development of Quantitative Structure-Activity Relationship (QSAR) models or read-across approaches. The studies covered in this review are limited to non-enzymatic experiments and to nucleophiles up to 50 amino acids. The main applications identified are related to the assessment of skin sensitisation, aquatic toxicity and hepatotoxicity. Various experimental measures of nucleophile depletion or adduct formation have been proposed as chemical reactivity descriptors, but no single protocol has emerged as the most generally useful. It is concluded that *in chemico* approaches provide a promising means of toxicity prediction within their applicability domains and should be further developed and investigated as alternative methods to animal testing, especially when used in the context of integrated testing strategies based on the use of multiple non-animal methods.

#### How to obtain EU publications

Our priced publications are available from EU Bookshop (http://bookshop.europa.eu), where you can place an order with the sales agent of your choice.

The Publications Office has a worldwide network of sales agents. You can obtain their contact details by sending a fax to (352) 29 29-42758.

The mission of the JRC is to provide customer-driven scientific and technical support for the conception, development, implementation and monitoring of EU policies. As a service of the European Commission, the JRC functions as a reference centre of science and technology for the Union. Close to the policy-making process, it serves the common interest of the Member States, while being independent of special interests, whether private or national.







